Understanding Compassion-Focused Therapy from a Participant's Perspective

Author: Kristin Gordon

Persistent link: http://hdl.handle.net/2345/bc-ir:104255

This work is posted on eScholarship@BC, Boston College University Libraries.

Boston College Electronic Thesis or Dissertation, 2015

Copyright is held by the author, with all rights reserved, unless otherwise noted.

Understanding Compassion-Focused Therapy from a Participant's Perspective

Kristin Gordon

Senior Honors Thesis

Boston College Sociology Department

Advised by Professor Paul Gray

Spring 2015

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Background	2
The Center	
The Program	8
Methodology	15
Literature Review	20
Addiction	20
Deviance, Labeling, and Stigma	26
Self-Labeling, Self- Concept, and Shame	29
Delabeling	33
Self-Compassion	37
Measuring Success	40
Data Analysis	44
A Life of Addiction	44
Entry into Therapy	52
Labeling	54
Self-Labeling	61
Spirituality	65
Shared Understanding	70
Mindfulness	73
Self-Confidence	77
Self-Efficacy and the Potential for Relapse	78
Discussion	83
Conclusions	90
References	94
Appendices	104

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my appreciation to the Sociology Department of Boston College, which has implored me to ask the tough questions and to pursue my passions. Specifically, I would like to thank Professor Paul Gray and Professor Lara Birk for their continued support throughout the journey of writing my thesis. My heartfelt gratitude is owed to my family and friends for offering me unconditional encouragement. Worthy of special acknowledgement are my parents, who always allow me to follow my heart, regardless of the fact that this has a habit of taking me halfway around the world. Most importantly, I am indebted to the men and women at Fáilte for welcoming me into their lives with love and sharing their beautiful goodness with me time and time again. I can only hope that I have done their stories justice.

Introduction

Alcohol dependence produces social, economic, and health consequences. When this harm reaches beyond the dependent, he or she is labeled as a deviant and subsequently faces stigmatized perception and treatment from his or her family, friends, and larger society. This stigma may be internalized as shame and self-stigma in the mind of the dependent, serving to perpetuate harmful alcohol use. While research about the internalization of stigma and its consequences is readily available, little is known about the reasons why labels are more strongly internalized and felt by some and not by others (Corrigan, Watson, and Barr 2006; Shaw 2002).

Clinical studies show that an ability to practice self-compassion may mitigate and counter self-stigma, thereby suggesting a potential to decrease harmful alcohol use (Goss and Allan 2012; Hedman et al. 2013; Livingston et al. 2010; Neff 2011). However, there is minimal research about whether self-compassion may be increased among those suffering from alcohol dependence. Additionally, the factors that may facilitate the development of this capability have not been explored in the existing clinical studies.

In this study, alcohol dependents are defined as those who are reliant upon alcohol, continue drinking regardless of the health, social, and economic consequences of this dependence, and have sought intervention. In particular, this study explores the perceptions and experiences of participants in "compassion-focused therapy" (CFT) in Ireland. Through first-hand narrative accounts, it is apparent that CFT enables modifications in the self-labeling and self-concept of alcohol dependents. Such modifications lead to decreased shame and self-hate amongst participants, as well as improvements in self-compassion. When combined with spirituality and mindfulness, this capability grants alcohol dependents cautious optimism for a life of sobriety.

Background

Experience, Rapport, and Validity

In February of 2013, an Irish nun visited Boston College to host a discussion on a series of rehabilitation centers for drug, alcohol, and gambling addictions that she founded throughout Ireland and Northern Ireland. After the presentation, I approached her and told her that I was interested in pursuing a future in social services. Upon hearing this, she immediately extended an invitation to me to visit one of her centers. She said that I could come whenever and for however long I pleased. On a gut instinct, I booked a flight to Ireland, where I spent six weeks participating in an internship during the summer of 2013. Throughout this study, I will refer to the center using the pseudonym "Fáilte." My internship allowed me to attend, participate in, and lead group therapy meetings in the detox unit and the women's residence unit of the center. During these weeks, I lived on-site and I spent a majority of my free time with the women going through therapy. I attended occupational therapy sessions, ate in the dining hall, and participated in recreational activities including meditation, singing workshops, and fundraising events alongside the participants.

Before my arrival, I was aware that my opinion of alcohol dependents was solely derived from what I had heard other people say about them. As society views alcohol dependence with stigma, the things that I heard others say about alcohol dependents were often not positive. Aware that such views would affect my ability to gain an understanding of alcohol dependence directly from those suffering from the condition, I made a significant effort to leave my bias and preconceived views of alcohol dependents behind me when I arrived in Ireland. In doing so, I made no claims to have an understanding of alcohol dependence or its impact on those it touches. As such, I entered Fáilte both acknowledging my ignorance and seeking to remedy it.

My initial interactions with the women at the center were marked with a degree of distrust and hostility. During one interaction I was asked whether I, too, was dependent on alcohol. When I replied that I was not, the woman responded, "Why do you have a right to be here then?" For a long time, any sort of answer to this question evaded me. Later I would be begin to respond to such inquiries with the simple reason I had decided to travel to Fáilte – to understand. The women seemed receptive to this response, and over the course of my six weeks they began to share their stories with me. When women spoke to me, my response was nothing more than to listen. When I was particularly troubled by something a woman told me, I would turn to the counselors at the center and they would help me understand the wider connotations of what I was hearing.

Over time, it became apparent to me that I had gained acceptance from the group of women participating in therapy regardless of the fact that I do not suffer from alcohol dependence. This acceptance was exemplified in one particular instance when I was sitting outside knitting with the women. Several women were discussing whether they should break the rules and take a smoke break outside of the designated smoking time. In the discussion, one woman said, "Oh no, we can't do that... Kristin is here." Here, she viewed me as a figure with authority relative to that of a staff member at the center. However, the other women quickly responded, "No, no. Kristin is one of us." This comment and similar anecdotes solidify my belief that the women were presenting their authentic and honest selves to me while I stayed at the center. By the time I left my internship, I had developed close relationships with those who lived and worked at Fáilte. With the development of these relationships, any preconceived views of alcohol dependents that I had unintentionally brought with me were completely dismantled. The women who had originally looked at me with apprehension were the same ones to organize my

goodbye party, where heartfelt wishes and gratitude for our time together were shared between all of us. I will never forget the moment when I walked out of the residence hall for the final time, only to be chased after by one woman who yelled after me, "Kristin, we love you!" It was in that moment that I knew I could not allow their stories to continue to be told by others who were outsiders to their experience. I wanted the women at Fáilte to be able to share their stories, using their own words to explain their most private beliefs and experiences. While I did not know it at the time of my internship, the time spent at Fáilte served to be a source of participant observation for this study. In total, the time I shared with the women and staff members during the summer of 2013 amounted to approximately 200 hours of participant observation and granted me privileged knowledge and understanding of the rehabilitation program at Fáilte.

I returned to Fáilte for a week in November of 2014 with a goal of more formally recording the experiences of those who were going through therapy. When I arrived, I was grateful to see that several of the women who had been in the program during my initial visit were still involved with the center. I reached out to them about participating in interviews and they graciously accepted my invitation. Several of the same staff members were also working at the center and they, too, agreed to participate in my study. Having these established networks allowed other women at the center to look at me with less hostility than my initial interactions with participants had been during my first visit. One of the staff members, Laura, who I had grown close to during my previous stay was also well-liked by many participants. Laura gave me recommendations about women she believed would be willing to participate in an interview and would also be likely to provide honest answers and narratives of their experiences. She volunteered to facilitate my introduction to women I had not met, which further assisted in the development of rapport and trust and therefore increased the validity of my interviews. While it

is impossible to tell the degree to which Laura's selection of participants resulted in bias, I believe that the rapport that was developed with her assistance is invaluable to this study.

When I was not conducting interviews, I found time to conduct an additional 20 hours of participant observation to supplement fifteen in-person interviews of counselors as well as current and past participants. I started all of these interviews by asking the woman to briefly explain her story. This introduction allowed me to highlight the themes that each participant deemed most important to her journey. I made certain that I asked additional questions that would draw out more information about these themes in particular. I also encouraged all of my interviewees to skip any questions that they did not feel comfortable answering. However, I found that those I interviewed were generally willing to answer all of my questions. I believe that this willingness may have been facilitated by their participation in therapy. The fact that many of the women I interviewed were participating in therapy may have increased their willingness to and comfort in discussing their personal life stories, which they had grown accustomed to doing in therapy sessions. Furthermore, the program at Fáilte encourages women to be honest in their interactions, and many of the participants agreed that this was an important part of their recovery. As Cameron (Week 6) explained, "But this program is a lot different in that you have to get honest or you're just wasting your time." It is my hope that the honesty advocated for in therapy was carried over to my interviews. Although it is impossible to know the true degree of honesty that each woman exhibited in the course of her interview, based on my past experience at the center, I believe that the responses were genuine.

At the conclusion of each interview, I asked participants if they felt that I was understanding and capturing their experience in an accurate way. During this time, I asked them if there was anything else they would like to share with me about their experience. Several

interviewees took this opportunity to voice their gratitude for participating in the interview. Many also said that they found the questions insightful and helped them to better understand their journey in addiction and recovery.

The Center

Fáilte is located in a remote region of Northern Ireland. Participation in the rehabilitation program at the center costs sixty euros per week. However, the government may provide these expenses for those that qualify for government assistance. A majority of individuals receiving treatment suffer from alcohol dependency, although there are a few participants with gambling addictions as well. Participants in the program must self-refer themselves to participate in rehabilitation. While they are free to leave the program at any time and for any reason, they must wait a period of six months in order to re-enter treatment if they leave early. While participating in the program, men and women may not leave the premises unless accompanied by a staff member for purposes deemed legitimate, such as a doctor's appointment.

The property owned by Fáilte is divided into five buildings – the detox and assessment unit, the men's residence unit, the women's residence unit, the building for occupational therapy, and a house for on-site staff members and volunteers. The women's unit holds approximately thirty residents while the men's unit holds up to forty residents. Five support workers, three group therapy facilitators, and one counselor rotate shifts in the women's unit on a daily basis.

The detox and assessment unit is located in the same building as reception. Here, participants stay in dorms with up to four other participants. Women in this unit are required to attend mass once per day, as well as group meetings and meditation twice per day. Although men and women reside simultaneously in the detox unit, the building is L-shaped and the two genders

may only come in contact with one another at the nurse's station with separates the two sides of the building. Throughout the program, men and women encounter one another daily at mass, but participants are not permitted to socialize with the opposite gender.

As interviews were solely conducted with women, the experience of women in the program will be primarily examined. The women's residence unit consists of a dining hall, living room, smoking area, kitchen, and bedrooms. Each bedroom has a set of two beds and a private bathroom, which the residents are responsible for keeping clean and tidy. In this unit, the schedule is much more rigorous than in the detox and assessment building. During the weekdays, residents are expected to attend two group meetings, participate in meditation, complete chores, and listen to an evening educational program. Significant time during the day is also spent participating in occupational therapy in rooms monitored by staff members. Of these, the women have a choice between participating in knitting, sewing, pottery, and art.

Saturdays are considered free days at Fáilte and participants are granted time to visit the on-site hair salon and run supervised errands to the local convenience store. On Sundays, women with children are allowed a scheduled visit. Once a month, these Sundays are used for larger family visits for all of the participants. The center believes that family members of those in addiction suffer as much as those with an addiction. For this reason, during Family Sundays, families are encouraged to attend family meetings in which they may learn more about addiction and receive support, advice, and coping strategies. On top of this monthly contact, each participant is permitted one fifteen minute phone call per week with an individual of her choice.

The Program

The first two weeks of the rehabilitation program are spent in the detox and assessment unit, where staff members seek to stabilize residents physically, mentally, and emotionally. To handle the severe symptoms associated with alcohol withdrawal, the women are asked to begin taking a prescription medication such as Librium a few days prior to their entry into the program. They may continue taking the medication as needed while in detox. However, the center encourages all women to adopt a substance-free lifestyle during and following the program and therefore commits to reducing each resident's intake of alcohol and prescription drugs.

On most weeks, approximately three to five women enter the center's program. The group meetings for the first two weeks offer a brief introduction to the topics that will be explored in the ten-week group program. Participants may participate in the full two weeks of detox, move on early, or remain for an additional week depending on the recommendation and evaluation of the support staff in the detox unit.

The ten-week program therefore begins at week three, although some women may not be at the center for that length of time. The program officially begins when participants are moved from the detox unit to the adjacent women's residence unit. There, the women are divided into three different groups according to the stage of the program that they have most recently completed. At times, this system requires residents to complete the sequence of the program out of order, but all participants are eventually exposed to the content of each week. Groups include up to ten women, but the number tends to decline as the course of the program goes on and some participants choose to leave the program early. A woman may be allowed to remain at the center longer than the ten weeks if staff members agree that it would be beneficial to her recovery to repeat a week of the program. However, particular care is made to ensure that participants do not

become dependent on the safety and shelter offered by the center, and a woman may therefore be required to leave after an extended stay of several weeks is completed.

Each week of group therapy has a theme and learning objectives for the participants, which are discussed in more depth below. At the beginning of the week, the group is given a binder with a short summary of the topic for the week and its importance to those going through recovery. Questions for each group meeting are then listed and are to be answered by each participant in a journal that is provided to her when she arrives at the center. Interestingly, alcohol is mentioned only twice in the program material and the program is therefore commonly referred to by staff members and participants as a "program for living." In week six, participants may choose to begin participating in one-on-one counseling. This component of therapy is not offered until the second half of the program to ensure that the women are emotionally strong enough to handle the often traumatic events that emerge during more intensive counseling.

The ten-week program was created with the overarching and intersecting goals of helping participants accept themselves and their addiction by practicing unconditional love, understanding the importance of attentiveness, and acknowledging the value of a higher power. The following summary and in-depth exploration of weekly themes provides a narrative of the journey that participants take in the center.

Summary

Pervasive throughout the program is the notion that participants must separate their inner goodness from their addictive and harmful behavior. The women are encouraged to come to this understanding by accepting God's love for them and working to incorporate such acceptance into their subconscious. With this understanding, those in the program may be able to find self-love.

The development of self-love, or self-compassion, is regarded as one of the most relevant predictions of whether a participant will be successful in maintaining sobriety after leaving the center.

Week 3: The Blindness of Addiction

Individuals in the program begin the process of overcoming the total lack of awareness and distorted views that they have of their lives. Participants are encouraged to examine how addiction causes their lives to become a fantasy that serves to hide, defend, and justify their addiction. As such, life in addiction is presented as one of non-reality and isolation. Early in the week, the women are asked to respond to the prompt "Can you see that you were living a double life? That the goals you professed to have were opposite to those that guided your life?" Later, the material calls on group members to confirm that they are committed to making positive steps towards recovery by being willing to listen and put into practice suggestions made throughout the program. In doing so, participants reflect on the question "Have you suffered enough to want to recover?"

Week 4: Recovery is the Choice

Residents are encouraged to have the humility to accept that their beliefs have been affected by addiction, that alcohol is no longer a way to cope with situations, and that they must surround themselves with positive influences. This is the first time that each woman is presented with the idea that she should work to accept herself as the person she is deep down, as "the beautiful person God has created you to be." To do this, the material asks participants to begin saying the phrase "I am good, I was always good, God made me good" daily to begin to allow

the concept of goodness to make its way into their subconscious. Such an acceptance also requires each woman to acknowledge the fact that she has a problem with alcohol. It is suggested that the participants ask God for help in maintaining their sobriety, even if they do not have a notion of spirituality at this early stage in the program.

Week 5: Unconditional Love, The Way Forward

The program introduces the concept of unconditional love. Here, the concept of the head level versus the soul level is presented to participants. The head level is one filled with the symptoms of addiction – self-centeredness, anxiety, self-criticism, and chaos. Conversely, at the soul level, individuals are able to practice unconditional love towards others and themselves. In order to reach this soul level, participants are encouraged to be attentive to the present moment during their chores and meditation. Practicing unconditional love towards oneself is particularly important because it ensures that a woman does not set unrealistic expectations for herself or feel negatively towards herself in challenging situations. An ability to practice this unconditional love is said to grant participants a sense of peace and enable them to safely deal with pain that may be brought up in future therapy sessions.

Week 6: Listening, The Key to Recovery

Listening is presented as a key to recovery because it enables participants to be fully present and attentive to the present. Active listening to the well-intentioned advice of others is difficult to do when caught in addiction because alcohol dependence takes over one's will, energy, and attention. It is therefore challenging, but essential, for those in addiction to learn how to listen. Facilitators are provided as an example of good listeners; they listen without judging

and accept the goodness in all people while helping them to see it in themselves. The women are encouraged to model their behaviors in order to increase their attentiveness and maintain sobriety. Here, the participants are also reminded of the support offered by others and are asked to reflect on the questions, "What difference would it have made for your life if you had listened?" and "Have you come to understand that you will gain a lot of insights and help by listening to what others have learned through their experiences?"

Week 7: Spirituality, The Answer

The program discusses the importance of spirituality in recovery and states that God and Our Lady are always present in participants' lives, whether the moment is one of celebration or of hardship. The material provided to participants particularly states that it is not important to identify with a specific religion or set of beliefs, but to experience the unconditional companionship of a higher power. This higher power loves each individual and will ultimately lead him or her to become the beautiful person he or she was created to be. It is suggested that the women begin the journey to accept their own powerlessness by turning their will over to a power greater than themselves. These are modeled after the first three steps of A.A. Although participants may not accept these claims, they are nevertheless encouraged to participate in prayer and meditation to enhance their ability to accept what is and let go of their own "self-run will."

Week 8: Imaginative Functioning, A Major Obstacle to Recovery

Participants begin to examine their tendency to participate in imaginative functioning, a form of negative thinking. This thinking is a coping mechanism because it allows people to run

away from their problems by living in a world of non-reality filled with constant worry and distrust. Imaginative functioning consumes individuals by always presenting the possibility of what should have been, rather than how things are. Such a pattern of thinking is an addiction in itself, and the fear of "having to face reality and actually do something with one's life can appear to be worse than staying with the familiar." In order to overcome imaginative functioning and obtain peace, participants are encouraged to live in the present by being attentive to the moment. As the program explains, living in the past or present is a world of non-reality and unnecessary worry, as "the present well-lived takes care of yesterday and every tomorrow."

Week 9: Self-Discipline, The Backbone of Recovery

The program examines self-discipline and its necessity in recovery. It goes on to encourage participants to practice self-discipline out of unconditional self-love. Self-discipline is practiced by following the guidelines and being attentive to tasks within the daily schedule, which help the residents gain freedom from the self-will that fueled their addiction. A devotion to one's self-will is presented to be a life of slavery and self-contempt because it ultimately leads to self-centeredness and self-destruction. The program says that, with the practice of self-discipline, "You will discover how to make choices; you will experience great inner freedom and a feeling of self-worth." In this way, self-discipline is framed as a freedom to be oneself without being controlled by one's addiction and therefore must be practiced in order to maintain sobriety.

Week 10: Without Change There is No Recovery

Participants are reminded of the idea that recovery is a lifelong journey of acceptance, and one that does not come easily. Those who think that they will one day have a drink will

likely have that drink, and acceptance of never being able to drink again is therefore essential to maintaining sobriety. In order to begin this journey, the women are encouraged to make the choice to not drink "one day at a time." The program states that many alcohol dependents have developed drinking to cope with the behaviors of other people in their lives. Such behaviors may have made them feel unseen, unheard, or unaccepted. While the women cannot change the behaviors of others, they may change their own reactions to situations and are encouraged to do so by refraining from drinking alcohol. On the last day of the week, participants are asked to reflect on the phrase "Until I accepted myself as I really am, no change happens" and to begin to introduce the declaration "I accept myself as I am" into their subconscious. This introduction can be practiced through a daily statement to oneself or through prayer.

Week 11: Healing the Hurts of the Past

In order to recover, the women are encouraged to examine and work through pains from their past. Pains of the past may include instances in which participants did not feel recognized, secure, or valued as a good person. As explained by the program, "We have to do for ourselves what the people who were significant to us for one reason or another did not manage to do. We need to begin to see ourselves as the beautiful people we are." While in the past, these experiences continue to influence an individual's self-concept and behaviors. Midway through the week, the women are encouraged to explore this idea by reflecting on the question "Are you beginning to become aware [that] the real problem in these situations is not the situation or the person who touched off your anger, that the real problem is within you?" The process of healing past pains is one that takes a lifetime and should not be rushed, as it may lead to relapse. When

such pain arises, participants are encouraged to practice unconditional love towards themselves and others.

Week 12: Gratitude, the Hinge on Which Recovery Swings

The program concludes by stating that gratitude is the key to continuing recovery and maintaining sobriety after leaving the center. Gratitude is again modeled by the staff, as they show their gratitude by being committed to the recovery of women going through the program. The material states that those who are grateful for their recovery and maintain such gratitude are more likely to remain sober because they take active steps to show their appreciation by going to A.A. and helping others in their journey to sobriety. Recovery is reiterated to be a lifelong journey that brings infinitely increasing rewards of peace, joy, and freedom.

Methodology

In this study, twelve one-on-one interviews were conducted with alcohol dependents that were currently completing or had completed compassion-focused therapy at Fáilte. I made a particular effort to interview women at different stages of their recovery in order to gain a better understanding of the effects of CFT over time. After conferring with counselors, it was decided that it would not be possible to interview women during their first week of the program. This decision was made because I believe that the interview questions may have brought up topics that the women were not prepared to deal with immediately upon their arrival at Fáilte.

Therefore, I interviewed participants in week 2-12, as well as women who were 3 months to 3 years sober. The ages of those interviewed ranged from 21 to 50. One of the interviewees was a

former participant in therapy at Fáilte and was working at the center as a counselor at the time of her interview. In a similar fashion, one former participant remained volunteering as a companion to residents at Fáilte. Depending on the availability of the interviewee, these interviews ranged from thirty minutes to two hours.

The interviews were based on a semi-structured interview guide (Appendix A). The questions were developed from the themes that emerged during the literature review. As such, the first part of the interview focused on the degree to which a participant's self-concept and ability to practice self-compassion was or has been modified during therapy. The second part of the interview subsequently focused on the factors that the participant believed enabled this change to occur. However, the interviews were conducted to privilege the experiences of those being interviewed and therefore space was left for the introduction of new themes.

Additionally, four counselors at Fáilte were interviewed. Their experience working at Fáilte ranged from 5 months to 30 years. These interviews lasted from twenty-five minutes to one hour. The interviews were also based off of a semi-structured interview guide (Appendix B). The purpose of these interviews was to gain a better understanding of the degree to which a participant's perception of labeling or shaming treatment by counselors was intentional or did not exist in the realm of compassion-focused therapy. It is probable that the experiences and perceptions of participants and therapists differ. Nevertheless, "Regardless of whether things happened the way people said they did, what interests is that people chose to tell us that they happened that way" (Luker 2008:167). As such, these differences shed light on factors that contribute to stigmatizing behavior, self-stigma, and self-compassion and are therefore a valuable part of this study.

Justification of Methodology

The interview methodology has been chosen for several reasons. On a fundamental basis, interviews are beneficial due to the sensitive nature of addition and treatment, even amongst those going through treatment. Interviews also enable the exploration of subjugated knowledge related to a participant's perception of labeling, self-stigma, and self-compassion. As explained by Shaw (2002:215):

Only interview[s] can find out whether labeling acts upon the subject positively, negatively, or neutrally. In other words, only the subject can tell whether he or she takes pride in a label, becoming motivated to enhance his or her newly obtained fame with more use, or labeling takes a negative toll, punishing him or her further into severe use.

The reality perceived and experienced by an individual has implications for his or her subsequent feelings and behaviors. This is especially true for the marginalized, whose voices and narratives are often overlooked in favor of the opinions of those with more power – in this case counselors, doctors, and policy makers (Karp and Birk 2013). Interviews grant the researcher a privileged understanding of the subjective interpretation, experience, and implications of stigmatization. Thus, it is only possible to explore this study's research question by looking at the way in which alcohol dependents themselves perceive their health, self-stigma, relationships with others, and self-concept.

Coding and Analysis

An inductive approach was used to code and analyze the data. While the literature review assisted in the construction of the interview guide, a codebook was developed from the data itself (Appendix C). I conducted coding according to this list, which minimized the risk that any preconceived notions and bias affected the interpretation of the data. Notes were also taken regarding non-verbal cues such as gestures and body language that occurred during the

interviews directly following each interview itself. Based on the model of grounded theory analysis proposed by Charmaz (2008), further analysis of the data simultaneously allowed new themes to emerge and allowed me to identify patterns and correlations between the experiences of those that were interviewed. When similar thoughts were expressed by multiple participants, a social statement was constructed about the experiences of participants in the program (Luker 2008).

Protection of Subjects

Every effort has been made to protect the subjects of this study. Informed consent was obtained from each participant, which ensured that the interviewee understood the procedure of the study prior to being interviewed (Appendix B). In order to protect the confidentiality of the participants in this study, I have used a pseudonym for each individual and I have also changed the name of the center at which research was conducted. The entire research study has been approved by the IRB under the case number 15.039.01.

Bias and Limitations

I did not arrive at Fáilte in the summer of 2013 with any knowledge or conceptions about the treatment program offered at the center. Over the course of my stay I witnessed the transformative impact of the program on the lives of the women I came to know. By the time I left, I had developed a strong belief that compassion-focused therapy not only worked, but was accepted by the women and staff members in a unique way. With this belief, I was motivated to better understand how such a transformation was able to occur by exploring participants' perspectives of their own experience while in therapy. It is therefore important to acknowledge

that I approached this study with a personal bias in favor of the therapy methods practiced at Fáilte. However, I took several steps in order to minimize the influence of this bias. For example, I told the women that I interviewed that I sought to understand their experience with therapy, whether such an experience was positive or negative. In this introduction, I acknowledged that the program had its strengths and weaknesses and that I simply wished to listen to her thoughts on the program. The fact that my research focuses on how participants perceive, accept, and reject various aspects of CFT allows for a well-rounded analysis of the therapy. Finally, I minimized my bias by coding the interviews using a codebook (Appendix C), which allowed for a more objective presentation of the data.

There are also several limitations in this study that must be accounted for and acknowledged. First, I am not an alcohol dependent and I have not gone through treatment. This creates a potential for limited understanding and analysis of data collected from interviews. The sample size is also relatively small and is limited to female participants at one treatment center in Northern Ireland. Additionally, as mentioned previously, much of the sample was selected based on counselor recommendations. This makes generalizations to wider populations, both within Ireland and beyond, problematic and provides the potential for bias. Furthermore, the interviews were only conducted with participants who were enrolled in the program or had been able to maintain their sobriety upon leaving the program. The data collected is therefore limited to treatment-seeking alcohol dependents and lacks the perceptions and experiences of those who did not enter therapy, those who dropped out of the program early, and those who did not choose to return to the program relapsing upon leaving the center.

Literature Review

Addiction

According to the World Health Organization (2014), alcohol dependence is defined as:

[A] cluster of behavioural, cognitive, and physiological phenomena that develop after repeated alcohol use and that typically include a strong desire to consume alcohol, difficulties in controlling its use, persisting in its use despite harmful consequences, a higher priority given to alcohol use than to other activities and obligations, increased tolerance, and sometimes a physiological withdrawal state.

Similar to the way in which children are reliant on their parents for existence, survival, and functioning, those with alcohol dependence are physically and psychologically dependent upon alcohol for their day-to-day functioning. In essence, they are under its control. When this control becomes unbearable, individuals may seek an intervention in an attempt to regain control of their lives (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014). Therefore, individuals who admit themselves to treatment will be defined as having alcohol dependence and will be referred to as "alcohol dependents" in this study. This terminology is important because it mitigates the stigmatization associated with negative labels of "alcoholic" and "addict."

Health and Socioeconomic Effects

According to the World Health Organization (2014) approximately 5.9% of deaths globally in 2012 were due to harmful alcohol use. Furthermore, alcohol consumption is closely tied to more than sixty diseases, negatively affects almost every organ in the human body, and leads to mental and behavioral problems (Health Service Executive 2008; World Health Organization 2014). Harmful alcohol use causes damage to one's physical and mental health. More specifically, its use may lead to frequent episodes of depression, liver disease, cardiac conditions, and respiratory infections (Lyons et al. 2011; World Health Organization 2014).

Harmful alcohol use is a burden not only to the dependent, but also to the dependent's family and society at large (Ipsos 2012). As such, "The burden of alcohol harm to the drinker can be seen in hospitals, on the streets, on the roads, in families, and in lost and damaged lives in every community" (Health Service Executive 2008:5). For example, studies have found that harmful alcohol use is associated with marital problems, suicide, violence, poverty, and decreases in productivity and public safety (Health Service Executive 2008). Alcohol dependence is also associated with socioeconomic consequences including unemployment and loss of financial earnings (World Health Organization 2014). While these consequences immediately impact the dependent, they also manifest themselves in society. For example, society must bear the increased costs of health facilities; police and justice systems; and welfare and unemployment benefits used to treat, punish, and provide assistance for alcohol dependents (North South Inter-Parliamentary Association 2014; World Health Organization 2014). Dependence incurs social consequences on society, as those with dependence on alcohol are unable to contribute to the production and workforce of the nation (Health Service Executive 2008; Long and Mongan 2014; World Health Organization 2014). Further, alcohol dependence places "intangible" harm upon members of society due to its role in suffering worldwide (World Health Organization 2014).

Addiction and Treatment in the Context of Ireland and Northern Ireland

While it is difficult to accurately measure rates of alcohol dependence, there is a strong drinking culture in Ireland, and its harm has been increasing since the early 1990s (Health Service Executive 2008; Walsh and Walsh 1973). In 2010, the World Health Organization (2014) estimated that 5.8% of the male population and 1.8% of the female population in Ireland

suffered from alcohol dependence. Other studies report an estimated 1.4 million people engage in harmful alcohol use and more than 200,000 are considered alcohol dependents (Long and Mongan 2014). The National Drug Treatment Reporting System found 8,000 new cases of alcohol dependence between 2008 and 2012, with the number of return cases increasing 16.8% (Health Research Board 2014). The high rate of such dependence produces serious economic consequences for the country and negatively impacts families (Ipsos 2012). Relatedly, research shows that more than 50% of the population has experienced negative consequences from somebody else's drinking, is concerned with another person's alcohol use, and knows somebody that they think drinks too much (Health Service Executive 2008; Iposos 2012).

Harmful alcohol use is also problematic in Northern Ireland, and an estimated 170,000 adults in the country engage in harmful or dependent drinking, as defined by standards set by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (Central Survey Unit 2012; Gilbert 2014; Northern Ireland Executive 2012). Hospital admissions with an alcohol-related diagnosis increased more than 60% between 2000 and 2010 (Institute of Alcohol Studies 2013). This parallels studies that report alcohol use in Northern Ireland has increased almost 150% between 1960 and 2010 (North South Inter-Parliamentary Association 2014). However, it is estimated that only 9% of those who need treatment for alcohol dependence are able to receive it in Northern Ireland (Gilbert 2014).

Deviance of Alcohol Dependence in Ireland and Northern Ireland

Although a majority of this literature review is comprised of sources and studies from the United States, these theories of deviance are widely applicable to Ireland and Northern Ireland.

Walsh and Walsh (1973) found that the stereotype of the "drunken Irishman" is prevalent in Irish

society. They go on to say that the stereotype results in a high tolerance for excessive drinking in Irish society and that it is not viewed as a form of deviance to the degree that it is in other countries. However, this argument is outdated, and recent studies show a more accurate picture of the way in which alcohol dependence is viewed in Ireland. A study by the Road Safety Authority (2007) of Ireland found that 80% of drivers found drinking and driving extremely shameful, and in 2008 67% believed that penalties for drinking and driving should be more severe. These figures are significant because the frequency of drunkenness in a society is strongly associated with the degree to which individuals believe they will face punishment for acts committed while under the influence (Field 1991). Although the legal punishment for alcohol-induced harmful behavior may not be as significant as desired in Ireland, the association of shame with such behavior suggests that individuals inflict some sort of self-punishment for the act. This self-punishment suggests that individuals in Ireland believe that alcohol use may be deviant under some conditions.

Bales (1991) contends that, when looking at cultural contexts for alcohol consumption, it is important to examine whether a culture encourages drinking as a way for individuals to deal with stress and tension. He goes on to state that alcohol consumption has been consistent throughout Irish culture and acts as a cultural symbol to confirm solidarity, equality, and acceptance. As such, Bales (1991) argues that those who consume large amounts of alcohol are looked at with sympathy, jealousy, and approval by Irish society. However, it is evident that societal attitudes in Ireland towards drinking have changed since Bales' writing and have come to constitute alcohol dependence as deviance. Such an argument is supported by Iposos (2012), who found that 85% of individuals surveyed think that the level of alcohol consumption in Ireland is too high. This figure represents an ongoing symbolic transformation in Ireland from

seeing harmful alcohol use as acceptable to deviant. Therefore, while the majority of literature presented in this discussion is from the United States, its theoretical basis and general applicability to the context of Ireland remain relevant.

Compassion-Focused Therapy at Fáilte

Fáilte has several locations throughout Ireland and Northern Ireland and has treated over 75,000 people for alcohol, drug, and gambling addictions. The treatment offered at Fáilte stands in contrast to many programs offered throughout Ireland because it practices "compassion-focused therapy."

Confrontational therapy offers a particular point of comparison by which to showcase the duality of treatment modalities in Ireland. Confrontational therapies were created and enforced throughout the world based on the belief that individuals with addictions have personality disorders that make them unable to understand or see reality. As a result, confrontational therapies aim to break down the inherent denial and dishonesty of participants through ridicule, humiliation, and ultimatums (Rose and Cherpitel 2011; White and Miller 2007). Scholars and researchers alike voice concerns regarding the potential harm that confrontational programs cause to vulnerable participants (Rose and Cherpitel 2011; White and Miller 2007). However, stories of their prevalence are often talked about in therapy sessions at Fáilte, as some participants come to the center after failing to recover at a confrontational program. A cultural shift in the beliefs regarding those with alcohol dependence has led to the creation and increased availability of compassion-focused therapy.

Compassion-focused therapy is defined as a therapy that seeks to increase the selfcompassion of participants in an effort to decrease self-stigma. It is specifically aimed at improving the self-compassion of those with high levels of shame, self-criticism, and depression (Gilber and Procter 2006; Neff 2011). During therapy, participants learn how to approach experiences and feelings (whether positive or negative) with a mindset permeated in compassion for themselves and others. For this change to occur, Germer and Neff (2013) argue that group leaders must model such compassion. Additionally, therapy sessions help participants identify fears and beliefs that inhibit him or her from accepting the compassion of others and feeling self-compassion (Goss and Allan 2012). These barriers are overcome by training participants to accept their fears and reframe these fears with compassion and positivity instead of developing coping strategies that often result in self-criticism and self-isolating behavior (Gilbert and Procter 2006). Therefore, the result of such a therapy does not just create a positive self-concept, but affects how participants relate to themselves (Neff 2011).

Women and Substance Abuse

This study will focus on the experience of women participating in compassion-focused therapy. Therefore, particular attention must be paid to the gendered concerns of this population of alcohol dependents. Although research shows that men engage in harmful substance use at high rates, women have recently been closing the gap and represent approximately one of every four substance abusers (Greenfield, Back, Lawson, and Brady 2010). For females, harmful substance use is more likely to affect family life, be related to a traumatic experience such as sexual or physical abuse in childhood or adulthood, and involve the internalization of problems (Brady and Randall 1999; Women's Health Council 2009). Women are more stigmatized than men for their engagement in harmful substance use and suffer from more serious health consequences (Brady and Randall 1999). In specific regard to harmful alcohol use, women

develop problematic drinking and seek treatment at faster rates than their male counterparts (Brady and Randall 1999). Women are also more likely to drink to cope with negative emotions such as stress (Greenfield, Back, Lawson, and Brady 2010). Bridge (2001) argues that providing single-sex treatment is not enough to increase retention and completion of a treatment program for harmful substance use and that these gendered experiences must be taken into account by treatment programs.

Deviance, Labeling, and Stigma

Theoretical Beginnings

According to symbolic interactionism, society is made up of an infinite number of interactions between individuals and groups of people. On an individual level, when two people interact, each places the other into a category that exists in his or her mind (Goffman 1959). This notion forms the basis of labeling theory, in which labels are ascribed to individuals and, with these labels, come subsequent assumptions about the nature and morality of each individual (Cooley 1922).

To maintain order, society and the individuals within it must define acceptable and unacceptable behaviors for its members (Becker 1963). In this study, deviance is defined as an inability to adjust one's behaviors to actions deemed normal and acceptable by society. When individuals deviate, society reacts towards them in a certain way, and this reaction is felt and interpreted by the individual (Lemert 1951). The societal reaction to a deviant behavior may result in the application of a certain label to the offender, which is readily applied in social interactions. Tannenbaum (1938:20) argues that the immorality of deviant acts subtly shifts from being applied to the act to being applied to the actor and "The person becomes the thing he is

described as being." As such, when negative labeling occurs, the individual becomes directly identified with the harmful effects of his or her behaviors, essentially embodying the harm itself, and is therefore labeled to be a harmful person (Shaw 2002).

Societal labels carry meaning and serve to define expected behavior of the labeled individual (Lemert 1951). Therefore, regardless of whether the individual labeled is actively participating in deviant behavior at the time of an interaction, labels influence how members of society interact with the one being labeled. A deviant label, such as one of an "alcoholic," often carries a stigma with it. As explained by Lemert (1951:64), "if the deviant behavior persists for any length of time, stereotyped stigmas tend to be attached to the deviant along with societal definitions of the deviant." Stigmatized behavior towards a deviant implicitly works to show that the individual is neither normal nor accepted in a particular context. In doing so, it often attempts to motivate an individual to return to non-deviant behavior and regain acceptance from society. Therefore, stigma impacts the treatment of an individual with a stigmatizing label and may be enacted through ostracization, isolation, and marginalization. A deviant may therefore choose to hide the components of himself or herself that elicit stigma in certain settings (Goffman 1963). However, a stigma is often tied to behaviors that are so intricately linked to a component of oneself that the act of suppression proves to be difficult.

Application to Alcohol Dependence and Implications for Therapy

Drinking excessively is commonly viewed as deviance because it causes harm to society. For example, drinking is correlated with traffic accidents, violent crime, disrupted relationships, and aggressive behavior (World Health Organization 2004). Therefore, the labeling of an "alcoholic" may be based on many behaviors, including drinking excessive amounts of alcohol,

as well as committing offenses following the consumption of alcohol. With this label, the view of alcohol as a dangerous substance that leads people to behave in ways that cause pain is transformed to identify the alcohol dependent as the source of pain (Tannenbaum 1938). It is important to recognize that many alcohol dependents do not begin drinking with the intention of being labeled or with the belief that they will ever develop dependency to alcohol. Instead, the act of labeling an individual to be an "alcoholic" is a lengthy process (Shaw 2002). With the labeling of "abuser," "addict," or "alcoholic," alcoholism is seen as a voluntary condition with significant, if not sole, personal responsibility (Schomerus et al. 2011). As a result of this perception, unique stigmatized beliefs and behaviors are enforced against those with alcohol dependence and serve to affect the placement of blame, punishment, and assistance to those suffering from the condition (Kelly and Westerhoff 2010).

Social control agents and societal reactions to alcohol dependency work to bring an end to the destruction that deviant patterns of alcohol consumption cause. In these efforts, society may attempt to ostracize a dependent through labeling and subsequent isolation and punishment. However, stigmatizing labels for alcohol dependents may not invoke abstinence and conformity to normal patterns of drinking. In this situation, instead of successfully punishing dependents to correct their behavior, they may instead strengthen their attachment to the community that approves of them (i.e. other drinkers) (Tannenbaum 1938).

By spending time with other people who accept and reinforce their drinking, alcohol dependents are able to maintain a barrier between society's expectations and the expectations of the few that are similar to them. The reaffirming and positive feedback given to an alcohol dependent by fellow substance abusers will further reinforce an alcohol dependent's desire to gain approval from those he or she values (Tannenbaum 1938). It is not until a dependent is

forced to confront the expectations of broader society outside of this small group that the stigma is felt and his or her self-concept may be changed (Crocker and Major 1989). Therefore, many therapies stress the need for alcohol dependents to distance themselves from former social groups that drink excessively. This distance creates a new reality by which an alcohol dependent may measure his or her behaviors. Such a reality inhibits the individual from rationalizing his or her deviant behavior and motivates entry into therapy (Jellink 1991). Although Jellink (1991) argues that an inability to rationalize may be "induced" by others, little evidence is provided as to how this may occur. Therefore, this study attempts to identify the self-concept of participants that served to motivate their entry to therapy. Particular attention is paid to the point at which a participant evaluated herself to be a deviant and whether this self-perception had an impact on her decision to enter therapy. This original measure of self-concept also provides a starting point by which to measure improvements in self-compassion.

Self-Labeling, Self-Concept, and Shame

Theoretical Beginnings

One is acutely aware of the labeling process that occurs in the mind of the other because it is a process that all human beings engage in on a daily basis. As such, in social interactions, one will imagine how the other is reacting to his or her behaviors and act accordingly. Cooley (1922) explains this process by saying that it is as if one is viewing oneself through a "looking glass," perceiving oneself from the standpoint of the other. He terms this phenomenon the "looking glass self" (Cooley 1922). By imagining oneself in the mind of the other, an individual is therefore able to modify his or her behaviors to confirm or challenge the labeling done by the

other. Often, his or her actions serve to confirm the label that was placed upon him or her during the labeling process, and labels therefore act as a self-fulfilling prophecy (Merton 1948).

By relying on a "looking glass" to interpret and modify one's behaviors, it is evident that an individual's self-concept is based on how that person believes others are interpreting his or her actions. Cooley (1922:184) explains this concept, saying, "A self-idea of this sort seems to have three principal elements: the imagination of the appearance to the other person; the imagination of his judgment of that appearance, and some sort of self-feeling such as pride or mortification."

As a result, a label does not need to be applied for an individual to act according to a label. So long as the individual subjectively interprets an interaction to be one of stigma and blame, the interpretation acts as a reality (Thomas and Thomas 1928). In this way, "If men define situations as real, they are real in their consequences," and the perception of labeling is enough for one to feel stigmatized against and act accordingly.

Over time, individuals learn to accept that they are worthy of the perceived and actual treatment and judgment placed on them by others (Memmi 1965). As a result of this acceptance, people begin to adopt self-images and behaviors towards themselves that are modeled after the way they perceive others to be viewing and treating them (William, Strupp, and Schacht 1990). With this phenomenon, a person may begin to adopt the label he or she is given (or perceives to be given) by another. When an individual accepts the label placed on him or her by society, self-labeling occurs. When one self-labels, one's feelings towards oneself become the feelings that society has towards the deviant act that the label represents (Becker 1963; Lemert 1951). As such, self-labeling is believed to be more powerful in the formation of one's self-concept and identity than the labeling of oneself by others (Shaw 2002).

Although it is evident that one's self-concept is based on the imagined and constructed attitudes of the others, the awareness of labeling and subsequent stigma against oneself is not enough to affect one's self-concept or self-identity. Instead, an individual must not only perceive stigma, but also agree that the stigmatization is valid and applies to him or herself. As Mead (1943:194) explains, "One attains self-consciousness only as he takes, or finds himself stimulated to take, the attitude of the other. Then he is in a position of reacting in himself to that attitude of the other." In this instance, the way in which society reacts to the individual becomes true and justified for that individual based solely on his or her modified self-concept. Self-stigma therefore occurs when an individual internalizes the stigma of others, resulting in decreased self-esteem and self-efficacy (Corrigan, Watson, and Barr 2006). Self-stigma manifests itself within an individual as shame and may lead to increases in the behaviors that originally led to stigmatization. Decreasing such shame therefore requires an altering of the individual's self-concept (Gray 2010).

Application to Alcohol Dependence and Implications for Therapy

For alcohol dependents, Lemert (1951) detailed the differences between primary and secondary deviance in order to explain the moment at which one applies the label given by others to an internal self-label of oneself. Primary deviation occurs when one drinks in excess, but does so for a socially acceptable reason. For example, it is acceptable to drink after work with one's colleagues following a particularly stressful day. However, secondary deviation marks a change in one's own self-concept. This occurs when one drinks for a reason that is "motivated by the conception the drinker has of the self as that of a drunkard, a sot, an inebriate, an alcoholic, or a

drunken bum" (Lemert 1951:371). One's act is a physical manifestation of a self-label and self-stigma (Corrigan, Watson, and Barr 2006).

Becker (1963) critiques this idea, saying that the motivation to use drugs may not solely be a result of a desire to cope with pain or trauma, nor an act to confirm a deviant self-label. Instead, the act is first completed and then must be learned to be associated with a way to cope with self-stigma. Shaw (2002) also complicates this theory by arguing that drinking may be a fulfillment of a label that does not have to do with an "alcoholic" identity. For example, a man may turn to alcohol after being fired from his job. The termination may have labeled him as failure to his colleagues or he may have interpreted the termination as such. Nevertheless, the interpretation of the situation changed the self-concept of the man and caused him to drink. Therefore, a fulfillment of a self-label occurs when one views oneself according to a label and feels a sort of shame or guilt about living up to the label. Drinking then becomes the punishment for fulfilling a label that one ascribes to oneself.

The stigmatization of alcoholism results in negative self-labeling, shame, and self-stigma that fuel the onset and continuation of harmful drinking and minimize the likelihood for alcohol dependents to seek treatment (Lemert 1951; Shaw 2002). Research shows that drug and alcohol counselors find shame to be a common theme in their interactions with participants (Gray 2010; Randles and Tracy 2013). Furthermore, shame displayed by Alcoholics Anonymous (A.A.) members through nonverbal bodily representations was found to predict the likelihood of relapse within 3 to 11 months (Randles and Tracy 2013). The existence and perception of shame regarding alcohol dependence have also been cited amongst factors that decrease the likelihood of individuals to seek treatment (Andréasson, Danielson, and Wallhed-Fin 2013; Keyes et al. 2010). These findings offer insight into the relationship between self-concept and self-stigma and

reinforce the necessity of decreasing shame in order to mitigate harmful alcohol use. The implications for therapy and the research of this study will be discussed in the context of delabeling.

Delabeling

Theoretical Beginnings

Delabeling is the process of removing a label and imposing a new one (Shaw 2002). It is difficult to retract a label once it is applied because a label becomes an unconscious judgment against an individual (Tannenbaum 1938). The assumption that such deviant labels are permanent helps to explain the lack of research into the removal of society-enforced and self-enforced labels.

Trice and Roman (1970) outline three ways in which successful delabeling by society may theoretically occur. First, a deviant act may become acceptable to society. Second, a ceremony during which professionals deem a deviant to be reformed and cured may allow the deviant to return to a socially acceptable standing and status in society. This ceremony involves a complete re-altering of the deviant's behavior. Third, society may create a socially accepted label that is attached to deviant behavior. The use of a new label does not change the acceptance of the deviant act or the application of the initial label, but allows a deviant to acquire new behavior that conforms to societal norms. Despite the usefulness of such a theory, it remains essential to understand the construction and deconstruction of a self-label. How this may occur is not explored in this theoretical framework. However, based on earlier discussions of the relationship between self-concept, self-labeling, and self-stigma, this study focuses on the potential for change offered in the dynamic and flexible construction of one's self-concept.

Application to Alcohol Dependence and Implications for Therapy

Due to the challenge of removing a label and its associated stigma, research regarding the delabeling of alcohol dependents is limited. Much research focuses on the importance of modifying society's labeling of alcohol dependents. These strategies argue that delabeling "alcoholics" with new terminology and conscious efforts to practice anti-stigmatizing behavior will lead to a modifications in self-concept and produce a decrease in self-labeling, self-stigma, and harmful alcohol use.

Medicalization is a common framework promoted in delabeling theories and serves to frame alcohol dependence as an illness instead of a consciously chosen form of deviance. Furthermore, medicalization aims to decrease the stigma associated with having alcohol dependence in the hope that it will modify society's treatment of the condition. These goals are supported by studies that find that those labeled as suffering from a "substance use disorder" invoke different responses and perceptions of fault as well as obligations of assistance than those referred to as "substance abusers" (Kelly and Westerhoff 2010). Its roots may be found in Alcoholics Anonymous, which has obtained widespread support in its campaign to frame alcohol dependence as a disease (Conrad, Schneider, and Gusfield 1980; Roman and Blum 1991; Trice and Roman 1970). With modifications in society's perception and treatment of alcohol dependence, supporters of medicalization rely on labeling theory to contend that self-stigma will be decreased for those with dependence. Such decreases are argued to increase the likelihood of individuals to seek treatment, facilitate the modification of one's self-concept, and ultimately decrease harmful alcohol use.

There is an ongoing debate about whether deviant drinking should be defined by medicalization. Some scholars argue that medicalization lacks scientific evidence and was created by individuals outside of medical professions who wished to serve their own interests (Conrad, Schneider, and Gusfield 1980). They also contend that that medicalization is no longer necessary because moral views associated with deviant drinking have been loosened so that alcohol dependence is no longer stigmatized (Conrad, Schneider, and Gusfield 1980). This argument is supported by research that shows various degrees of agreement about whether the labeling of those with alcohol dependence results in increased drinking levels or self-labeling (Combs-Orme, Helzer, and Miller 1998; Shaw 2002). Furthermore, while Fingarette (1991) acknowledges that the medicalization of alcohol dependence has implications for public policy and the treatment of dependents, he argues that the framework does not encourage individuals to enter treatment. Instead, Fingarette (1991) believes that the medicalization model validates an individual's desire to drink and, by framing his or her actions as involuntary, provides an excuse for an alcohol dependent to continue to drink. This is supported by evidence that the introduction of the medicalization model to Ireland increased the normalization of drinking in the country and placed the responsibility for alcohol-related harm on an individual's predisposition to the substance instead of on the nature of alcohol itself (Butler 2002).

It is evident that recent research contradicts all of these claims. For example, many studies show that alcohol dependence is widely stigmatized and that it remains stigmatized even when placed within a medical framework (Livington et al. 2011; Schomerus et al. 2011; Williamson 2012). Additionally, such claims stand in contrast to previous discussions about the way in which perceived stigma inhibits alcohol dependents from seeking treatment (Keyes et al. 2010). Nevertheless, recent scholars have sought to address these critiques by advocating for a

"Medicoethical Approach" to alcohol dependence. Such an approach would acknowledge the plural responsibility that the individual and society share for perpetuating and combatting alcohol dependence (Williamson 2012).

Delabeling theories also advocate for the importance of practicing anti-stigmatizing behavior towards alcohol dependents. In a therapeutic setting, research finds that there is a direct relationship between the way in which therapists interact with participants and how the same participants view themselves (William, Strupp, and Schacht 1990). While this research did not conclude that the absence of such behaviors may lead to a positive change in self-concept, it does show that the presence of shaming and blaming interactions may be enough to inhibit change altogether. As a result, many scholars argue that it is essential for counselors to avoid labeling or enacting stigmatizing treatment towards participants that may results in feelings of self-stigma or shame (Gray 2010).

It is important to note that a removal of harmful labels against alcohol dependents by society may not result in a modified self-concept. Additionally, the efforts of counselors to avoid the enactment of stigmatized treatment on participants may not result in such a change. This is because, as discussed previously, the mere perception of stigma or judgment may elicit self-stigma. Therefore, the conscious delabeling of alcohol dependents by society and therapists will not result in self-concept modification until the alcohol dependent delabels him or herself. As explained by Shaw (2002:212), "No matter what pressure they may receive from their surroundings in the labeling process, it is in the end the users who decide what course of action to take in their own reaction." Thus, self-labeling remains the primary motivation for behavior confirmation or modification. When one self-labels oneself as a good person, one may modify one's behaviors towards oneself in an effort to correspond with this new self-label. Such a

process may result in decreased levels of drinking that once fulfilled the self-applied label of an alcohol dependent. This can be done by increasing an individual's ability to practice self-compassion and is the focus of this study.

In its framework, compassion-focused therapy does not enforce stigma or induce self-stigma and shame. At Fáilte in particular, efforts are made to label participants as "good people" separate from all notions of the "alcoholic" and other negative labels. As such, the compassion-focused therapeutic setting has been proven to provide the grounds for a reduction in self-stigma and shame amongst individuals with substance use and anxiety disorders (Hedman et al. 2013; Livingston et al. 2010). However, these studies do not explore whether participants perceived the modified labeling and anti-stigmatizing treatment to be significant factors in modifying their own self-labeling. Additionally, the fact that participants may subjectively interpret therapist interactions to be stigmatizing, and therefore unintentionally produce shame, is not examined. This study fills these gaps by examining the experience of participants in compassion-focused therapy, participants' perceptions of the attitudes of therapists towards alcohol dependents, and the factors that participants themselves believe assisted in modifying their self-concept.

Self-Compassion

Theoretical Beginnings

Self-compassion is an emerging measure of overall well-being. It enables one to treat oneself with kindness, even in negative moments. The capability is also closely tied to feelings of self-worth, as increases in self-compassion are theorized to motivate one to make positive change in one's life because it symbolizes a care for oneself (Neff 2011). Studies cite that self-compassion is generally lower amongst women, with mixed results when looking for differences

between age groups (Neff 2011). Scholars argue the measure is more stable than traditional measurements of self-esteem.

Whereas self-esteem entails evaluating oneself positively and often involves the need to be special and above average, self-compassion does not entail self-evaluation or comparisons with others. Rather, it is a kind, connected, and clear-sighted way of relating to ourselves even in instances of failure, perceived inadequacy, and imperfection. (Neff 2011:1)

For this reason, this study makes particular efforts to focus on self-compassion rather than self-esteem or self-confidence. Nevertheless, an important relationship exists between the two. Individuals suffering from low self-esteem have been found to engage in higher rates of self-criticism than those with high levels of self-esteem (Gilbert and Procter 2006). Therefore, both self-compassion and self-esteem are intricately related and not mutually exclusive concepts.

According to Neff (2011), there are several components of self-compassion. The first encompasses an individual's acceptance of the fact that he or she is imperfect. This does not require overlooking one's flaws, but requires one to refrain from being overly critical of these flaws. Secondly, an individual must be aware that such imperfection is part of being human, a condition that Neff (2011) terms "common humanity." With this understanding, when suffering, an individual should feel interconnected to those around him or her, and not isolated and ostracized by such suffering. Group solidarity through social networks or group therapy enable this to occur, but an individual with high degrees of self-compassion will be able to feel such solidarity even when not in a group of individuals voicing similar suffering (Gilbert and Procter 2006; Goss and Allan 2012). Finally, mindfulness enables an individual to observe an experience with a proper degree of attention, neither letting it pass by nor fixating on it. It is an ability to accept one's emotions, both positive and negative, as components of life and not as feelings that must be held for extended periods of time (Shorey et al. 2014).

There has recently been an increase in the study of CFT. CFT has been shown to increase self-compassion, mindfulness, and well-being and to sustain these increases for more than one year following therapy (Neff and Germer 2013). Increases in self-compassion have also been found to be correlated with reductions in perceived feelings of marginalization, depression, feelings of inferiority, and shame (Braehler et al. 2012; Neff 2011; Gilbert and Procter 2006; Goss and Allan 2012).

Application to Alcohol Dependence and Implications for Therapy

Self-compassion is a relatively stable measure of self-concept and well-being and therefore offers a reliable capability to target for lasting change. A study by Shorey et al. (2014) found that individuals with substance-abuse problems who sought treatment had lower levels of mindfulness when compared to healthy adults. More specifically, alcohol dependents have been found to have higher rates of depression and anxiety, and lower rates of self-compassion than the general public (Brooks et al. 2012).

High levels of self-compassion are correlated with a decrease in self-criticism, shame, and depression (Goss and Allan 2012; Neff 2011). Therefore, studies contend that compassion-focused therapy, which is specifically designed for individuals with such measures of low self-esteem and high self-criticism, is appropriate and effective in treating alcohol dependents. However, there are few studies that seek to measure the way in which compassion-focused treatment may be applied, or must be modified, for alcohol dependents.

Interventions to increase mindfulness prove to be clinically successful and result in decreased substance use (Brooks et al. 2012; Shorey et al. 2014). In a study of compassion-focused therapy methods, Brooks et al. (2012) found that increases in self-compassion following

treatment remained significantly correlated with decreases in alcohol use 15 months later. The results supported Rendon (2007), who found that increases in self-compassion led to reductions in anxiety and depression, followed by subsequent reductions in drinking behavior. While this research supports a correlation between self-compassion and decreases in alcohol consumption, it does so in a clinical and outcome-focused manner. Thus, such studies measure the before and after rates of self-compassion and alcohol use, but not how modifications in the two occurred. It is significant to examine the nature of these modifications because alcohol dependents have a particularly stigmatizing and shame-inducing label to confront, which may affect how compassion-focused therapy may be applied and interpreted. More specifically, which components of compassion-focused therapy had the most impact on the clinical improvement is not explored. The studies may leave some readers satisfied, but sociologists are left questioning whether such improvements are due to therapist interactions, group dynamics, a change in self-labeling, or some other concept unexplored in this literature review.

Measuring Success

Regaining Socioeconomic Status

Alcohol dependence affects one's employment, economic security, marriage and family stability, connection to community, and health (Westermeyer 1982). Therefore, successful treatment for an individual with alcohol dependence must not solely address his or her consumption of alcohol. Instead, it can only be considered effective if it also addresses and improves the socioeconomic losses that result from addiction. Shaw (2002) argues that reentering society as a self-sufficient member suggests a successful delabeling of an alcohol dependent. He says the fact that the individual is employed demonstrates two things. First, it

shows that the individual has reoriented his or her priorities from alcohol to productivity, a decision that was previously inconceivable while in addiction. Secondly, his or her hiring suggests that society is accepting of this delabeling. Additional improvements that mark the success of therapy can be found by looking at the socioeconomic impacts of treatment. For example, improvements in family relationships, civic participation, and non-violent behavior may all demonstrate outcomes of a successful therapeutic intervention. In this study, such improvements are measured by the way in which the participant believes he or she has improved. This is done in an effort to maintain the value placed on the subjective experience of the participant throughout the study.

Spirituality

Several studies provide evidence of a positive relationship between spirituality and recovery amongst alcohol dependents. In these studies, an important differentiation between religion and spirituality is made. As Murray, Malcarne, and Groggin (2003:26) explain, "Spirituality has been differentiated from religiosity, with spirituality defined as focused on an individual's direct personal experiences of the sacred, in contrast to religion's focus on specific belief systems and dogma." In this study, spirituality will therefore not be confined to a specific religion or set of beliefs. Instead, the participant's experiences and understanding of spirituality will be valued.

Polcin and Zemore (2004), Robinson et al. (2011), and Zenmore and Kaskutas (2004) found that those who reported higher levels of spirituality were able to maintain longer periods of sobriety following treatment. Additional research theorizes that levels of spirituality may play a role in an individual's willingness to seek treatment for addiction because it affects an

individual's openness to and acceptance of change (Galanter et al. 2007). However, some researchers find no such relationship between a belief in a higher power and abstinence. Murray, Malcarne and Goggin (2003) did not find evidence to support the argument that spirituality acts as a motivation to stop drinking, or that it has a positive influence on length of sobriety for alcohol dependents. There is also debate about whether such increases in spirituality aid in maintaining sobriety, or are a result of it (Jarusiewicz 2008). Martin et al. (2015) contend the former, as their study found that religious coping (embodied in statements such as "I put my problems in God's hands," "I ask for God's forgiveness," "I pray for strength," and "I pray for help") is associated with maintaining abstinence. Furthermore, the study found that women used such religious coping mechanisms more than men.

Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy is the belief that one will be able to use new behaviors to produce a desired effect (Kadden and Litt 2011). In the realm of addiction, this means that individuals leave treatment with a conviction that they will be able to transition their newly learned behaviors into the real world and remain abstinent. Kadden and Litt (2011) cite numerous studies that report a correlation between an individual's belief that he or will be able to remain sober and his or her actual abstinence following treatment (see e.g., Ilgen, McKellar, and Tiet 2005; Moos and Moos 2006), as well as ones that do not support such a relationship (see e.g., Demmel, Nicolai, and Jenko 2006). Self-efficacy has also been found to increase the longer abstinence is maintained (Romo et al. 2009). Due to its potential benefits, this study relies on the argument that it is important for effective therapies to increase participants' feelings of self-efficacy. However, a literature review by Kadden and Litt (2011) failed to produce conclusive evidence on whether

and how self-efficacy may be improved in therapy for substance abuse. Therefore, this study examines the way in which participants wrestle with such optimism while maintaining an awareness of the difficult reality of upholding their sobriety.

The Potential for Relapse

While abstinence is commonly used to suggest success in recovering from addiction, it is often inevitable that an alcohol dependent will drink again at some point during his or her recovery. During this relapse, an individual may fall back into his or her old label. This process is termed relabeling (Shaw 2002). A relapse reinforces the need for self-compassion. Self-esteem is dependent upon both outcomes and societal approval and is therefore absent from one's self-concept during relapse. Conversely, self-compassion may be drawn upon even in times of failure when a sense of self-esteem may be absent. Therefore, if an individual has the ability to practice self-compassion, it may enable him or her to better plan for and manage a relapse and work toward recovery (Goss and Allan 2012).

Increases in Self-Compassion

As discussed previously, studies showcase marked clinical improvement in self-compassion, but are vague about the "tools" and "exercises" used. Few clinical studies detail the methods used in therapy as well as the ways in which participants interpret therapy and the process of such a change in their self-perception throughout the course of treatment.

Furthermore, they shed limited light on how and why a participant's self-concept, self-labeling, and self-stigma – all concepts related to self-compassion – may change. Therefore, this study pays particular attention to the way in which participants evaluate their own ability to practice

self-compassion and the factors that they believe contributed to or inhibited the development of this capability.

Data Analysis

A Life of Addiction

"Alcohol [...] brings them to hell and back"

The life of alcohol dependents while in the throes of their addiction is one riddled with negativity and loss. The wide impact of such loss was described by Brianna (Week 3), who said, "I think everything goes out the window when you drink. Everything. Even your appearance, your morality, your sense of being." Four women directly associated the life of addiction as living a life of hell. This hell manifested itself in many forms, including physical discomfort, a loss of financial resources, and disownment from one's family.

Health Effects

More than half of those interviewed spoke of the negative effect of their alcohol dependence on their health. Many times, these experiences did not make reference to a woman's own physical health, but were in regards to the death of a close family member due to alcohol addiction. As women spoke of the passing of their siblings and parents, their narratives served to confirm the high rates of death attributable to alcohol dependence on a global scale (World Health Organization 2014). Even more significantly, such close personal encounters with others suffering from alcohol dependence supports the statement that harmful drinking behaviors are

widely prevalent in Ireland and Northern Ireland (Health Service Executive 2008; Northern Ireland Executive 2012).

Three women also described experiences in which their drinking led to their own physical pain. This often occurred when the participants did not have access to alcohol to treat their withdrawal symptoms after long periods of excessive drinking. Nicole (Week 4) explained that whenever she refrained from drinking, "I was just like a 70 year old woman – couldn't even get a shower without a chair. The shaking and the physical pain. Just horrible, really not very nice."

As suggested in the literature review, the health effects of alcohol dependence were not limited to physical experiences of discomfort or pain. The way in which dependence affects one's mental health was supported in the interviews of women within this study (Lyons et al. 2011; World Health Organization 2014). Most significantly, participants described their addictions to be ones of intense negativity towards themselves, which will be discussed in more depth.

Financial Impacts

Although a few participants were able to remain consistently employed, a majority of those interviewed said they were unable to hold a job while in addiction. As supported by the review of relevant literature, this resulted in severe economic consequences, as these women struggled to survive while financing their addictions with a limited income (World Health Organization 2014). As a result of financial constraints, approximately fifteen percent of women said that they were forced to sell their material possessions. Cameron (Week 6) explained the result of her dependence, saying, "I'd lost everything. I sold all of my jewelry, my TV, my

laptop. I had sold everything." In Cameron's experience, the loss of these material possessions was only one loss in a series of consequences that she suffered during addiction. Over the course of her interview, it became clear that the immense feeling of loss and failure that was caused by her addiction subsequently fueled its continuation. Later, she went on to say, "I had let everybody down. Mainly my family. It's hard to describe that guilty feeling. You can't cope with it. You just drink to take it away." Here, it is evident that loss does not solely affect dependents emotionally or financially, but may serve to encourage the continuation of harmful drinking.

Loss of Family

Women described their interactions with their families during addiction to be marked by a lack of involvement, dishonesty, and on the verge of complete loss. Many women viewed their dependence as one that caused selfishness because it took all of their time and energy away from social interactions. These experiences confirm the negative effects of alcohol dependence on family and marital relations (Health Service Executive 2008; World Health Organization 2004).

Twenty-five percent of participants said that they consistently lied to their families as a result of the selfish nature of their addiction. Jennifer (Week 11) explained that this dishonesty was often in an effort to hide her drinking. She feared that the exposure of her drinking habits would cause her family to treat her with judgment and resentment. However, she went on to say that her drinking was often discovered despite her best efforts to conceal it. She explained:

So through the years I sort of isolated myself from my family because you're trying to hide and I used to get caught all the time and there used to be arguments, rows, physical fights. And I was nasty to them. Really, really nasty.

Other lies were in the form of failed promises made by a participant to her children, spouse, or caregiver. These ranged from promising to take her child out for the day to remaining sober for

an evening out. Even when the women were caught in their deceit, more than thirty percent said that their addiction did not allow them to feel guilty or affected by the other person's disappointment, anger, or concern. As Amy (Week 8) explained, "Well when I was drinking I didn't feel anything. Selfish. I can get on my own, I thought. I would have said to them I don't need you. That's how selfish the drink is." These feelings offer support to Tannenbaum's (1938) theory that the behavior of a deviant may not change even when faced with ostracizing or stigmatized treatment. In light of such narratives, the behavior of the women may not have changed because they could not feel the stigmatized treatment enacted against them. While several women voiced gratitude that their families continued to offer unconditional support to them despite their dishonesty while in addiction, this was not the experience of every woman interviewed. In fact, two participants stated that they had suffered complete estrangement from their families as a result of their behavior in addiction.

Self-Hatred

Almost fifty percent women of women described being overcome with feelings of intense self-hatred while in addiction. Jennifer (Week 11) spoke at length about her self-hatred, saying:

I hated myself. Absolutely hated myself. I had no self-esteem. I was completely and utterly numb. The only feeling that I had was the hatred for myself. I had no love for anybody at all. Absolutely no feelings at all apart from hatred.

For these women, it became impossible to let go of such negativity towards themselves. The tendency of participants to hold onto feels of self-hatred for extended periods of time shows an inability to practice mindfulness (Shorey et al. 2014). This supports research that alcohol dependents suffer from low self-esteem and diminished levels of mindfulness (Shorey et al. 2014).

The inability to practice mindfulness while experiencing negative emotions manifested itself with increased drinking and physical acts of self-harm. Candice (Week 6) explained that when she felt poorly about herself, "I would have cut myself. I would have drank [...] I would have took it to heart. It was just any excuse and I would have a drink." Jennifer (Week 11) also went into great detail about the physical manifestation of her self-hatred, saying that she had cut her wrists several times and had a strong desire to commit suicide prior to her arrival at Fáilte. Hannah (3 years sober) and Candice, too, openly admitted to attempting suicide in their interviews. While these physical acts may be readily identified as signs of self-hatred, one counselor, Christine, framed drinking as a form of self-hatred as well:

[W]hen you know you have a problem and you know it's hurting you and your family yet you continue it's a form of self-hatred. It's self-harming. You know it's hurting you and everyone around you. Yet you keep hurting yourself. Some people have medical issues due to their drinking yet they keep drinking. That is a form of self-hate.

Self-Criticism

When reflecting on their behavior in addiction, more than thirty percent of women described unrelenting feelings of self-criticism. For example, Amy (Week 8) said that prior to entering the program, her thoughts were permeated with a fear of failure. She described the feeling, saying, "It was always the paranoia, not being good enough, you know." Jennifer (Week 11) echoed such self-criticism, describing, "I would have beat myself up and then I would have drank more to cover how I was feeling. You know, the hatred for me personally. I couldn't do no right. It didn't matter. I couldn't do no right anyway. I never did anything right at all." These comments support research that those with low self-esteem engage in high rates of self-criticism (Gilbert and Procter 2006).

Absence and Avoidance of Emotions

Approximately twenty percent of women described their emotions in addiction as non-existent. Amy (Week 8) described this, saying, "Well when I was drinking I didn't feel anything." Nicole (Week 4) also described her experience:

It's to do with the alcohol but you're just in your own world and you aren't aware. I remember that you aren't aware. I was never aware of what was going on. It was just like everything was happening away from me and nothing affected me. It's hard to explain. You sort of sit in your house and it's like you're in a goldfish bowl and the whole world is revolving and everyone is going about their business and everything is going on but you're just not a part of it.

When these women felt emotions starting to emerge, they described intense urges to medicate them with alcohol. This will be discussed in more depth in later themes.

What Those in Addiction Need

All of the counselors directly referenced these narratives when discussing the purpose and goals of compassion-focused therapy. They believed that therapy should address the self-hatred and self-criticism practiced by those who entered the program (Gilber and Procter 2006; Neff 2011). Staff members said the primary goal of the program is to teach and show participants that they are loved. Laura explained the process was "like building back from scratch, building them back. Giving them their worthiness that they need, their love that they need. That they are loved, but they can't see it because they're beating themselves up each day, you know."

Staff members believed that showing unconditional love to participants would encourage the women to practice such compassion towards themselves (Germer and Neff 2013). The practice of self-compassion was seen as essential to maintain sobriety following completion of the program.

So if you've gone through a program and you've learned to love yourself or the idea that you should love yourself and respect yourself and you go into face the reality of the world when you leave here and you decide to pick up a drink, you haven't found the love for yourself. (Christine)

Hannah, a former resident and current counselor at Fáilte, offered an interesting perspective on the goals of staff members and the needs of participants. She explained that she could not have decreased her drinking without first learning to accept herself unconditionally. She said that the program is "not just about listening, talking. It's knowing that you're a better person." While this self-acceptance required her to accept her flaws, it also increased her awareness of her own goodness. Hannah believed that finding this goodness allowed her to begin to treat herself in a more positive and compassionate way, which has enabled her to maintain her sobriety for three years. This narrative supports Neff's (2011) argument that therapy changes that way in which participants relate to themselves.

A Point of Comparison

Both Dawn (18 months sober) and Janet (8 months sober) had previously attended treatment centers that practiced confrontational therapy. Their experiences offered interesting points of comparison to the compassion-focused goals and methods practiced by counselors at Fáilte. Dawn spent a great deal of her interview describing the differences between the two programs. She said that the first treatment center, which I will call Conas, was much harsher than Fáilte. She said that the program at Conas "was very much trying to break you down." Her interpretation of the objectives of such therapy mirrors the definition of confrontational therapy presented by Rose and Cherpitel (2011) as well as White and Miller (2007). She went on to describe a typical day at the center:

[I]n the group therapy, each day the counselor would come in and you didn't know who was going to get targeted. But if it was you, you knew you were in trouble. I can think of a time when there was actually a counselor [...] and he was an ex-priest and he just tore me to shreds. Like I was wailing uncontrollably. It was about my children and even some of the others sort of said this is a bit much, you need to stop. And he did it with the others as well but they were very much about breaking you down to build you back up. And I think it was trying to get you to wake up because when we're in addiction we don't always see the damage we're doing and I think that was very much their approach.

When asked how this method of therapy made her feel, Dawn responded:

Awful. You know when you go into any treatment program, you're already broken. You're already completely destroyed and the guilt you're carrying is like an elephant on your shoulder already. So I don't know if it works. I'm not necessarily sure whether it works, that approach.

She went on:

I think you do have to have an honest look at yourself, there's no doubt about that. You really do you have to have a good honest look at yourself. But I don't know if just taking you down the way they do if it is that... it is about starting to find yourself. Love as well because when you're in addiction you probably haven't loved yourself before the drinking got really bad. But once you're in it you hate yourself. You can't even bear to look at yourself in the mirror. You know, before you go near the treatment program and then they get in there and then you know... that Wednesday felt like an exercise in humiliation. Definitely. [...] So the approach here worked better for me.

Although Janet spent less time describing her experience with confrontational therapy, she found that such therapy made no effort to encourage her to feel better about herself before, during, or after the program. She said, "Basically the method is strip the client down and then put them back on the street. And this is what happened [...] There's no building up whatsoever.

Absolutely none. They broke me down and put me out." As a result of the program, Janet said that she was left vulnerable and subsequently returned to drinking upon her return home. Sadly, her drinking was more excessive than it had been prior to treatment. Janet's experience supports warnings of the harm of confrontational therapy, while Dawn's confirms the negative effects of shaming interactions between counselors and participants (Rose and Cerpitel 2011; White and Miller 2007; William, Strupp, and Schacht 1990).

Entry into Therapy

Inklings of Self-Worth

When asked to explain why they decided to enter treatment, more than thirty percent of participants said that they were doing the program for themselves and that they sought help because they deserved a life in which they were happy, content, and at peace. As Brianna said, "I deserve more [...] Because I'm a good person. I just deserve a life and to be happy. You know, nobody deserves to be like this." Such narratives suggested that women at Fáilte arrived with initial feelings of self-worth and therefore a baseline of self-compassion (Neff 2011). Dawn (18 months sober) referenced such initial feelings of self-compassion when she said:

There must have been something in me. And I was talking to people about this and I think you have to have some sort of self-love to even come here. And I think it just came from being loved as a child [...] I think I still had a wee semblance of self-love somewhere in there. It was buried deep, but it was there and it was enough to get me through those doors.

All of the women who enter the program at Fáilte are required to voluntarily submit themselves to treatment. This policy is in place because staff members believe that a participant will not get better if she does not want the help for herself. Interestingly, none of the women said that they were pressured by others to enter into the program. Instead, they described instances in which they came to their own realization that they had no option but to enter Fáilte. Although Jellink (1991) argues that alcohol dependents may be "induced" through their interactions with non-alcohol dependents to enter therapy, this was not the case of those interviewed. Instead, participants described being blind to the outside expectations of their families and communities while in addiction. Cindy said that women in addiction "can't hear and they can't see." Even the women that were aware of the concerns of others ignored their pleas to get help, saying that their addiction caused them to be "selfish" and focus solely on getting the next drink. In these

scenarios, it is apparent that the women knew that they were deviant, yet still continued their behavior. As Jessica (Week 12) explained, "I think [I wanted] to just go back to normal. Because I think when I was drinking... You know I knew, I knew that I wasn't. I just wouldn't admit it to anybody but I knew myself that it wasn't right." Participants described that it was not until they grew tired of their own behavior that they were ready to seek help. Therefore, women's entry into the program may seem to be more of a self-induction than one enabled through an awakening to or confrontation with expectations of broader society as Jellink (1991) contends.

Goals and Motivations

Almost sixty percent of women stated that, after hitting rock bottom, they had a choice between treatment and death. Dawn (18 months sober) said, "I knew in my heart I had to do it. I was really at the point of all or nothing. I was either going to lose my life or everything I had." In this choice, the women did not have any goal beyond that of survival. Hannah (3 years sober) described her mentality, saying, "When I first came in I just wanted anything. You know. I didn't hope for anything. I had no hopes for anything. I just wanted to get well." The choice to enter therapy therefore suggests that these women wanted to regain not only control of their lives, but save their lives entirely (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014). Maxwell (1962:578) supports this perspective, saying that individuals must suffer from disillusionment with alcohol before they are ready to commit themselves to the A.A. recovery program. He says:

It appears, furthermore, that the alcoholic has to become completely disillusioned, not only with his own ability to solve his alcohol problem, but also with alcohol as his method of solving any problems. This includes the conviction that his drinking which for years was considered to be an asset has definitely become a liability and, if continued, will only lead to more suffering, degradation, and perhaps insanity, or even death. For the disillusionment with alcohol to be complete, however, it apparently must include the conviction that any compromise goal of safe, controlled drinking is utterly impossible for him.

Other women voiced desires for a new life with long-term goals of happiness, peace, contentment, and self-acceptance. For example, Amy (Week 8) said that she arrived at Fáilte hoping to gain a "a peaceful life and contentment." After spending several weeks at the program, Hannah said that she began to adopt these goals as well, saying, "I just wanted to be happy and to feel peaceful within myself and like myself and to feel comfortable within my own self."

Labeling

Reclaiming the Label

Participants varied in their ability to accept the label of "alcoholic" due to the negative stigma associated with it. Staff members generally concurred that this stigmatization was troublesome for many alcohol dependents.

I think it leaves a stigma, as you were saying, because people don't want to be known as an alcoholic. And people's interpretations of an alcoholic can be somebody lying in the gutter, somebody who steals, somebody who is untrustworthy. Whatever their imagination ties in. So it is not a nice label I suppose for people to be stuck with. Now, some people can cope with it and lots of people can't. Everybody is so different. (Cindy, Counselor)

With this negativity, many participants said that identifying as an "alcoholic" made them feel ashamed and embarrassed. These narratives support research that shame is a common theme in treatment for alcohol dependents (Gray 2010; Randles and Tracy 2013). Other women voiced desires to reduce the stigma associated with the label, believing that it would result in increased help-seeking amongst alcohol dependents. At the same time, three women described their own personal acceptance of the label, and stated that they were unaffected by the stigma attached to the word. These women acknowledged that the label of "alcoholic" was stigmatized, but did not believe that such stigma applied to them, did not internalize self-stigma, and therefore did not

feel that their self-concept was affected by the label itself (Mead 1943). Interestingly, none of the women interviewed came to entirely reject the label of "alcoholic." Instead, participants frequently expressed how they came to accept the label by reclaiming in their own terms.

"I have an illness"

Six participants found it possible to accept the label of "alcoholic" by framing it through the lens of medicalization. Through this lens, alcohol was seen as something that alcohol dependents were "allergic" to, with A.A. and aftercare being presented as medicine that would treat this allergy. Understanding alcohol dependence as a disease enabled several participants to accept the label of "alcoholic" and not be ashamed of their dependence. Dawn (18 months sober) explained that she used to have feelings of guilt and shame about her alcohol dependence. However, when she gained an understanding of the nature of alcohol dependence as an illness, such personal blame and embarrassment were relieved. She said, "I think I had to accept the label and [...] I think a better understanding of the illness has helped me [do that]. I think that's how I overcame the label. I've accepted the label for what it is, which is an illness."

Jennifer (Week 11), Amy (Week 8), and Dawn also voiced concerns that their families failed to understand that alcohol dependence was not a choice, but an illness. To address this, staff members at Fáilte commonly meet with the family members of those in the program. In these meetings, families are presented with the medicalization concept of alcohol dependence. When their families came to medicalize alcohol dependence, all three women reported feeling grateful and said that they felt less stigmatized treatment from their family members.

I had my family meeting last Friday and my mom even talked about it as an illness, whereas before she would have said to me – Oh you're only a drunk. You're useless [...] for me that was positive. Like that was my mom sounding positive instead of being negative all the time towards me. (Jennifer, Week 11)

These narratives support research that the way in which alcohol dependence is framed affects notions of responsibility for the condition, as well as responsibility to offer assistance to those suffering (Kelly and Westerhoff 2010). However, in contrast to Kelly and Westerhoff's (2010) study, none of the women that were interviewed felt a need to completely change the terminology of alcohol dependence to that of a "substance use disorder." Instead, they were able to obtain the same decrease in self-stigma by modifying their personal definition of the stigmatized label and encouraging others to do the same.

"I'm doing something about it"

Roughly fifty percent of participants were more comfortable accepting the label of "alcoholic" and their own alcohol dependence if they were able to reclaim it according to their own terms. In these interviews, women stated that they were not ashamed of being an alcoholic as long as they were one that was in recovery and on a journey of sobriety. Dawn (18 months sober) carefully voiced this distinction, saying:

I'm not proud of being an alcoholic. Well, it's not that I'm not proud of it, but I'm fully proud of being a recovering alcoholic. I have no shame about being an alcoholic as long as I'm in recovery. If I'm an active alcoholic that's a different story.

In telling their experiences, the women compared themselves to others who did not take such an approach to "doing something" about their addiction. By comparing themselves to those who did not seek help, the women were able to position themselves as un-blameworthy. As Amy (Week 8) explained, "As I said, too, it's not our fault we're alcoholics but it's our faults if we don't do something about it." This framing allowed the women to resist commonly-held notions of their own personal responsibility for and voluntary participation in their alcohol dependence (Schomerus et al. 2011).

Murray, Malcarne, and Goggin (2003) argue that women who make such claims to have control over their alcohol dependence have an internal locus of control. In contrast, those who believe that something greater than themselves determines their fate are externally oriented. The fact that women claimed that they were "doing something" about their addiction suggests that they had an internal orientation, which is a predictor for the maintenance of sobriety (Murray, Malcarne, and Goggin 2003). However, Jarusiewicz's (2008) research complicates this suggestion, as it found that individuals who maintain sobriety for longer periods of time have greater levels of spirituality, and may therefore be externally oriented, than those who repeatedly relapse. The relationship between spirituality and sobriety found in this study will be discussed in later themes.

By positioning themselves not as passive acceptors of their fate as alcohol dependents, but as active participants in its control, women were able to decrease their reported feelings of guilt about their identity as "alcoholics." For example, both Jessica (Week 12) and Jennifer (Week 11) reported feeling less ashamed of being an alcohol dependent. When asked whether she was worried about what people would think of her when she came out of treatment the following week, Jessica said, "the way I look at it is, I've done something about it. So I'm not really worried about [what people think of me]." Jennifer echoed this when asked about her identification as an "alcoholic," saying, "I would almost say that I feel content saying it. Because I have accepted it and I know that I am doing something about it."

"Normal people are alcoholics"

Five participants and two counselors spoke of the nature of alcohol dependence to affect anyone. The condition was therefore seen as something that does not discriminate on the basis of

race, class, or gender. This understanding was gained through exposure to other women suffering from alcohol dependence either through A.A. or group meetings at Fáilte. Women reported that this realization allowed them to feel less ashamed, as it implied that they did not have to identify with the negative images of "alcoholics" in order to accept their own dependence. Furthermore, learning that other women had similar experiences enabled participants to feel less alone and ostracized from notions of normality. These descriptions suggest developments of the potential to see one's "common humanity" and therefore the emergence of self-compassion (Neff 2011). Pauline (Week 9) described how group meetings increased her self-acceptance, saying:

You just feel more comfortable. You start not to feel like a freak. You know, maybe I'm not a freak you sort of say. And you just listen to everybody and take it all in and you know you sort of go to yourself maybe I'm not a freak.

Janet (8 months sober) also echoed how sharing her experiences with others who could understand helped her feel less ashamed, saying:

And there may be a topic I would be too ashamed to bring up and some other girl would bring it up because she has more power. Once she has opened up, I open up. And there is great healing in being with the group of likeminded people and you realize no, hey I am not mad.

However, the revelation of shared experience did not necessarily mean that a woman would freely identify with the stigmatized label. In her interview, Nicole (Week 4) said that discovering the normalcy of addiction helped her to feel less ashamed about entering treatment. She explained, "One of the first things I did before I came in here was Google famous alcoholics and you wouldn't believe the number of people that you would have never dreamed would have a problem with alcohol." Yet, this realization did not translate in a way that allowed her to readily identify with the label of "alcoholic" and the negative connotations often associated with it. When asked if she could say that she identified with the label of "alcoholic," Nicole responded, "I'm not sure, I don't know. I'm not really sure."

"I never use a label"

All four counselors stated that they make an active effort to avoid labeling participants as "alcoholics." Many justified such an effort by saying that they believed that a label cannot define a person, especially if that label is negative. Several staff members also stated that they would not like to be labeled and judged according to a label, and therefore refrained from doing the same thing to participants.

But the thing that I keep remembering is it goes deeper than that. That's just a label. 'Alcoholic' or 'drug addict' or somebody is 'bipolar' do you know it's just a label. And that there is more, there is a person underneath that label. So I personally don't look at anybody as an alcoholic or drug addict or a anorexic or bulimic or whatever it may be. I never use a label. I believe there is a person underneath that label that needs help. (Hannah)

Instead, counselors at the program work to treat and label participants as "good people" with an alcohol problem, thereby separating them from the negative stigma of "alcoholic." Laura described her way of interacting with the women, saying, "I treat them with respect. Total, total respect. I treat them as human beings. I treat them as an equal to me." This was received well by participants, who said that staff members "treat everybody fairly" and "treat everybody like themselves" (Amy, Week 8; Jessica, Week 12). As discussed in the literature review, the labeling and anti-stigmatizing treatment practiced by counselors is an important delineation from the way in which alcohol dependents may be labeled by society (Gray 2010). As Dawn (18 months sober) explained, "I don't remember ever being spoken to like that before. And it's not particularly in our nature to always be praising one another so I remember sort of being slightly shocked at some of the words being used in here like you are unique."

When Jennifer (Week 11) was asked if she had ever been labeled or treated such a positive way, she answered:

No, no. Definitely not. My husband, well my ex-husband, he always put me down all the time. You know he'd call me useless and I wasn't a good mother. So no I haven't. Never, never. So it's good to be told you're good. It feels good to be told that you're good. Even if at first you don't believe it. You don't, you really don't believe it at first. Then it starts to sink in and then you believe yourself. And it feels damn bloody good to be told you're good. It really does.

Here, Jennifer's narrative seems to confirm the theory that a self-label is modeled after external labeling (William, Strupp, and Schacht 1990). When Jennifer's ex-husband called her "useless," she came to accept herself as person worthy of negative treatment and viewed herself negatively. However, when staff members at Fáilte began treating and labeling her as a good person, over time, she adopted this view of herself. This supports the notion that anti-stigmatizing treatment may be a significant factor in modifying a participant's self-label and resultant self-concept (Shaw 2002). However, it is also evident that some women struggled with relabeling themselves in a positive light, even with the anti-stigmatizing treatment practiced by counselors. For example, when Pauline (Week 9) was asked if she believed the counselors when they told her she was a good person, she responded, "Yeah I got to now, don't I. Oh, I do. I don't know [...] Hmm it's really hard to shake them feelings off because you've thought you were just... well I thought I was bad. Just bad."

All of the counselors believed that participants must come to accept themselves as good people. However, two believed that staff members could only enable this acceptance to occur to a certain extent. Christine explained that she could treat the women respectfully and tell them that they were good, but that the women ultimately needed to change their own self-perception in order to find success in the program. She explained, saying:

I can't fix anyone. Fáilte is a place you can change yourself and no one else and the same applies to me. I can't fix anyone. I can only say things and give them the space and the opportunity to help themselves and that's about it.

Three participants confirmed that, while the program offered them support in their recovery, they could ultimately only change themselves. Janet (8 months sober) said, "Of course they were very kind and caring [...] But through what I learned and the change within myself, it was more me. They only facilitated the change within me." Hannah (3 years sober) agreed, saying, "[U]nless I wanted to change myself nobody else can help me. It's like you change yourself, nobody else can change you." These narratives support Shaw's (2002) argument that self-labeling, whether positive or negative, is more important than external labeling. Furthermore, they offer qualitative support to the theory that modifications in self-concept cannot take place until a new self-perception and self-label is accepted (Shaw 2002).

Self-Labeling

Staff members at Fáilte encourage women to view and label themselves as good people, separate and apart from their stigmatized behavior during addiction. This self-labeling allows participants to refrain from perceiving themselves to be the harm that their behavior caused (Shaw 2002). In doing so, participants avoid shifting the stigmatized treatment of alcohol dependence onto themselves (Tannenbaum 1938). In fact, Cindy said that this was the most important lesson for women to learn while at the center. She said that the women must learn:

That they are good. They are good. They are not their bad behavior, they are good. They are good people and they really are. I've never met a bad person yet. I've met plenty of bad behavior, mind you. But never a bad person and I can honestly sit in this chair and say that. I've never met a bad person.

Laura agreed, saying that the program emphasizes that, "It's the addiction. It's not the person. It's not the human being. We have to separate the addiction from the person. And I feel that we have to separate the addiction." Jennifer (Week 11) confirmed the efforts made by staff members to encourage this separation, saying,"[Y]ou're told when you come in here you are a good

person. You're not a bad person. Your behavior was bad, but you're not bad. You're a good person. And they do instill that in you when you come in."

"I am good"

To begin to self-label themselves as good people, participants are encouraged to say the phrase "I am good. I was always good. God made me good" to themselves several times a day. All four counselors said that they tell the women to say this mantra regardless of whether they believe it at first. When asked why she accepted this phrase when it was introduced to her, Candice (Week 6) responded, "You don't. You just say it [...] Yeah, you just try and believe it." Candice went on to describe her attempts to practice this self-labeling, saying, "I don't know, I just look at myself and laugh. I'd be like this is mad. But I do it." Although several other women also voiced initial resistance to the mantra, they were encouraged to continue repeating that they are good people, and over time a majority of women came to accept that they are the good people suggested in the phrase. When Hannah (3 years sober) was asked how she came to believe that she was good, she responded, "Saying a thousand times a day I am good, I was always good, God made me good. I didn't believe it at the start but eventually it goes down into my subconscious and I start to believe it."

"It's my behavior, it's not me"

In explaining their acceptance of this self-label, almost sixty percent of women pointed out clear differences between their behavior during addiction, which evoked self-shame, and their behaviors without alcohol. When referring to her argumentative behavior in addiction, Jessica (Week 12) said:

And that would be sort of like the things that I would have done and stuff... you know it was totally out of character for me. And I think it's just accepting that now so I have accepted that. I know that I wouldn't be the type of person to annoy anybody. But when you're drinking, you're completely drinking. Like that wasn't me, that was drinking.

Amy (Week 8) made similar comparisons. She explained:

I know that I'm a good person. It's just with the alcohol, you know it does change you. I'm not an abusive person. I wouldn't fight or anything like that but if somebody annoyed me with a drink my tongue could be loose you know. I could say things I didn't mean. You know I'm not like that at all in my nature. But no, I am a good person.

By separating themselves from their harmful behaviors during addiction, the participants began to accept themselves as good people. Cameron (Week 6) said that she was learning "to accept that it wasn't me. It was my addiction that caused a lot of pain."

Resistance

Although accepting such an understanding may be beneficial in the development of self-compassion, more than forty percent of the women interviewed found it challenging to accept that they were a good person and apply such a label to themselves. This was largely attributed to the severity of harm that their behaviors caused while in addiction. Jennifer (Week 11) explained that she struggled to believe that she was a good person because she had thought she was a bad person for so long. She said:

And even though I knew deep down I wasn't a bad person, my behavior was bad which made me think I was a bad person [...] Because of the things I had done and said and the people that I hurt.

She went on:

You're so used to being accepting of yourself as the bad person. It's like... it's almost like you don't want to be a different person because you're so used to being that person. So it's the acceptance of knowing that you have to change or you are changing. You know, and your behavior is changing. It really is like oh my god it's like being reborn again, it really is.

Dawn (18 months sober) said that she, too, had never felt that she was a good person. She said this was due to the culture of Northern Ireland and found it difficult to begin to relate to herself in a more positive way. She said:

Northern Ireland has a very self-deprecating culture. You know other countries, even in America, I think other places it's okay to say something good about yourself whereas in Northern Ireland or Ireland in general I think that's probably why we have so much alcoholism. We're always putting ourselves down. And that's what you do. So it's difficult. That's engrained from birth. So it's difficult to really congratulate myself about things.

Pauline (Week 9), Candice (Week 6), and Sarah (Week 3) found it challenging to separate themselves from the behaviors of their addiction for different reasons. Their narratives described an inability to define themselves apart from their behavior because they did not know who they were without their addiction. In other words, they had been in their addiction for such a long time that they had internalized it as a part of their identity and did not know who they were in their new life of sobriety. This was evident when Pauline was asked to describe herself. She responded, "I haven't a clue who I am. You know, I am lost."

Peace and Self-Compassion

Those who were able to separate themselves from the harm they associated with their addiction found great peace. Brianna (Week 3) described her feelings after realizing that she is not her addiction. She said:

It's great. It's just a sense of peace within yourself. I can't describe it. You feel like a whole person again [...] You know and it's just a peace inside. You know, you're at peace with yourself. Your head isn't working overtime. You're at peace with yourself.

Such peace brought women a relief from guilt and shame, as Dawn (18 months sober) described that she is no longer "disgusted" with herself. With this separation, women began to forgive themselves for the harm that was caused by their alcohol dependence. Janet (8 months sober)

explained that gaining an understanding of herself as a good person and not defined by her past behavior allowed her to forgive herself. She said:

I hated myself. But I didn't realize it was the behavior I hated [...] And through our program here we learn from very, very early on that this appalling behavior is not us. It's not Janet, it's my alcoholism. Out of control. Functioning alcoholism. Drinking. It's my behavior, it's not me [... And] I've forgiven myself. I don't beat myself up anymore. I learn to forgive myself for what I have done. It was not me. It was my behavior through addiction.

In light of the literature review, self-forgiveness can be seen as the opposite of self-criticism and depression. Therefore, increased feelings of self-forgiveness may suggest a development of self-compassion. This development may be enabled through a separation of oneself and one's behaviors resulting from alcohol dependence (Goss and Allan 2012; Neff 2011). Research by Robinson et al. (2011) asserts that self-forgiveness is a predictor of sobriety maintenance, and suggests that an adoption of such forgiveness may be found in and promoted by spirituality.

Spirituality

The program at Fáilte encourages women to increase their spirituality. While the center was created by a Catholic nun and participants are required to attend mass two times a day, several counselors were quick to state that the program does not believe that the benefits of spirituality may solely be found in Catholicism. Hannah said, "We're all different religions but nobody cares about different religions. We are all equal. And we respect other religions and other religions respect us. So we're all spiritual in some way." With an open-minded acceptance of other religions, the program encourages women to find their own connection with spiritualty. As supported in the literature review, such spirituality is not limited to a relationship with God (Murray, Malcarne, Groggin 2003). Instead, Fáilte views spirituality as a connection with a higher power that knows each woman to be a good person, loves her, and wishes for her to come

to love herself in the same way. As such, a higher power "can be anybody. It can be their sponsor, it could be their dog, it could be anything" (Cindy, Counselor). Cindy went on to say that each woman's higher power wants her to have "A quality of living without alcohol." For many women, such a connection was completely absent while in addiction. As Amy (Week 9) explained, "When I am drinking, now prayer is out the window and that's bad." Nicole (Week 4) concurred, saying that through the program, "You become a bit more in touch with your spiritual side which drinking completely wipes out." The narratives of the women interviewed provide evidence to the way in which connecting with spirituality is associated with their development of self-compassion, and may support abstinence following treatment (Polin and Zemore 2004; Robinson et al. 2011; Zemore and Kaskutas 2004). The benefits of finding a higher power that provides unconditional support, love, and purpose will be discussed in more depth.

Unconditional Support

Fifty percent of participants believed that their higher power provided them with unconditional support. Candice (Week 6) explained the effects of such unconditional support, saying, "It makes you feel a wee bit better. It's like you have somebody as your guardian angel. Like you have somebody there looking after you. It's good." Hannah (3 years sober) identified God, Our Lady, and her grandmother as her higher powers. She felt that their help was a major factor in maintaining her sobriety. She said, "I believe that there is a higher power greater than me helping me today and that is what is keeping me in recovery."

While in addiction, many women were overcome with intense feelings of worry that resulted in both negative feelings about the future and increased levels of drinking. As Sarah (Week 12) described:

Normally when I'm thinking about the future, say about something that might never happen or might happen or whatever the case may be, I would always come up with a negative outcome to the future. I never see that it's going to work out or it's going to have a good outcome.

As the women held onto negative feelings of worry for extended periods of time, it may be suggested that the women in this study lacked mindfulness while in addiction (Shorey et al. 2014). However, while in therapy, the women are encouraged to hand their worries over to a higher power, who would make sure everything would be alright. In their interviews, women spoke of a higher power who would help them through challenges, which in turn decreased their worrying and increased their hope for the future. Dawn (18 months sober) explained the freedom she found by placing her worries about the future with God, saying:

For me, the way it works is if I believe that He's going to look after me and things will be okay, then I don't have to worry as much. You know, before I obsessed and I think a lot of people do who are not even in addiction. You worry, worry, worry, worry, worry, worry, worry. You know, I'm worried about the kids when they're teenagers – are they going to be alcoholic? Whereas with God, I believe that He is looking after me and the boys and then I can sit back and not worry as much.

This narrative parallels Martin et al.'s (2011) understanding of the way in which religious coping mechanisms, such as asking for help, are used to maintain sobriety. By accepting a higher power, women described being able to release themselves from such feelings. This could suggest increases in self-compassion to be associated with a development of spirituality.

Purpose

Approximately forty percent of women said that connecting with a higher power allowed them to see that their life had purpose. These purposes usually involved using their experiences with addiction in a meaningful way to help others. The women said that they came to believe that

God created them for this purpose, which gave their life meaning and worth. Hannah (3 years sober) also believed that her higher power wanted her to start to love herself. She said:

You know and it does start to click with me and that God didn't put me here in this Earth for no reason. And plus He didn't take me away. You know I should have died because I put myself through hell but God kept me alive so obviously there's a purpose for me in this Earth and the most important thing to start to do is love myself before I do anything else.

Self-worth, or an understanding of one's life as significant, was largely absent for women during addiction. This is evidenced in narratives of self-harm and suicide attempts, as was previously discussed. As presented in the literature review, a development of self-compassion is closely associated with increased feelings of self-worth (Neff 2011). Therefore, the increase of self-worth and purpose described in women's narratives suggest that women were beginning to develop self-compassion. The notion that a development of a connection with a higher power may motivate such a change suggests that spirituality may be an important factor to increase a participant's self-worth and therefore her development of self-compassion. The implications of such a development are supported by research that shows that having a purpose in life is strongly associated with the maintenance of sobriety (Kelly and Greene 2014; Robinson et al. 2011).

Unconditional Love

Fifty percent of participants spoke of the unconditional love of their higher powers. With this love, it is understood that God knows that each woman is a good person and accepts her with and despite of her flaws. Dawn (18 months sober) said that her program allowed her to come to this understanding, saying:

I think God knows that there's nothing in me that would deliberately hurt another person and would never hurt anybody on purpose. And I would help somebody if I can. But I mean there are flaws too and I know He knows them. [... But] I think God knows fundamentally that I'm good [...] I didn't even know there was a God before I came in. I

just wasn't sure He was real. But I think the experience in here changed that for me. Definitely. I don't think, I know. It definitely did.

For many women, coming to accept the unconditional love of God was a difficult journey.

Candice's (Week 6) interview highlights this challenge. When asked what God thought of her, she said, "I don't know. I'm told He has to love us like no matter what." However, when asked whether she believes that God actually did love her no matter what, she responded, "Hmm....

Sort of "

By connecting with a higher power that loved them unconditionally, women were encouraged to love themselves. However, it is unclear whether the knowledge of the unconditional love of God actually helped women practice love to themselves. While many of the women did not speak of their journey to accept that God loved them, the two that did said that they did not believe that God could love them until they had already developed self-love and self-compassion. Brianna (Week 9) said that she came to believe that God loved her unconditionally only after started feeling at peace with herself. She said, "I believe it now because I have so much peace inside that I never had before." Dawn reflected on her journey to accept the unconditional love God offered her, saying:

[T]eaching us that self-love allowed me to believe that maybe God might love me. Before I came in here I thought if there is a God, He certainly doesn't want me. That's definitely what I thought. You know, if He does exist. I thought that's maybe why I couldn't reach Him or He couldn't reach me because why would He given the person I was [...] I think it was learning self-love in here helped me believe that there was a God and that He loved me. And that things were possible again.

Yet, the notion that a woman's higher power wants her to love herself provides complication to the theory that a woman must love herself before accepting that God loves her unconditionally. The narratives of several women suggested that they had not come to love themselves, yet still accepted the existence of their higher powers and their unconditional love. For example, Hannah

(3 years sober) said, "You know I believe they love me. I didn't believe that before. I didn't even love myself before but I believe that they want me to love myself and my higher power – which is God or Our Lady, my granny, anybody close that has died – is helping me every step of the way."

While it proves to be difficult to determine the relationship between a woman's newfound connection with spirituality and her development of self-compassion, such a relationship may be suggested when examining the narratives of the women as a whole. Most significantly, Janet (8 months sober) directly associated spirituality with traits of self-compassion. She said:

[T]o be able to wake up in the morning and to have such freedom, to have discovered myself at the age of fifty. To have such confidence back, to have a meaning in life, a purpose, and to be free. To be finally free and rid of so many hang-ups and negativity and inferiority complexes, etc. That freedom cannot be bought. And that is spirituality. That is what I have received, it's that freedom."

Shared Understanding

Several participants said that they were not comfortable being honest about themselves and their experiences with alcohol dependence prior to their arrival at Fáilte. They said that they feared that being honest would cause them to be hurt, judged, or unaccepted by those around them. Candice (Week 6) explained why she had never been honest while in addiction, saying, "I don't know, getting hurt I think. Scared of people looking their nose down and not wanting anything to do with me." However, seventy-five percent of participants said that they felt accepted by the other women in therapy with them because of their shared understanding of and experience with alcohol dependence. Cameron (Week 6) explained that she felt comfortable sharing her story with the girls, "Because they know where you're coming from and they understand. They've been there. Even though we might all have different backgrounds and that,

but the common denominator is alcohol has brought us here." While the particulars of their stories were different, the women felt that such a shared understanding allowed them to be honest in group therapy, and also to feel less alone. Sarah (Week 3) said that the commonalities between the women allowed her to avoid feeling feel judged or ashamed in front of the other women. She said:

Well I suppose because we're all really on the same wavelength. Even though all of our stories are different, you know there's that common denominator. So say if you're sharing in a general way at a group meeting, you wouldn't feel as if it sounds silly or stupid what you did or what you think. Because everybody kind of has thought, has done something similar or something sort of a similar experience of what you're going through.

Janet (8 months sober) agreed:

And often for people this is the first time in their life in a group that they can be so honest. Because everybody else in that group has done the exact same as you. Different circumstances, different places, different people. We all have suffered from the shame, the guilt. We all understand one another very clearly. Other people don't understand our conversations, how we behave. But we all know.

This comfort was also felt when in the presence of counselors, many of whom were recovering alcohol dependents themselves. Brianna (Week 3) said that she felt at ease with the staff members at the center "because they understand what it's like. Because a lot of them are exalcoholics which I think is fantastic because nobody knows better than another alcoholic." Cameron agreed, saying, "[I]t's perfectly natural for one alcoholic to know exactly what the other alcoholic is going through."

Denzin (1991) argues that such comfort is common in groups of alcohol dependents that share a commonality of experience and therefore an "alcoholic understanding." He uses A.A. as an example and explains that, "Alcoholic understanding refers to the process whereby each in a pair of alcoholics interprets, knows, and comprehends the meaning intended by others in terms of previously experienced interactions with the active and recovery phases of alcoholism" (Denzin

1991:705). While others are outsiders to this experience, A.A. allows its members to participate in conversations about their stigmatized behavior and express feelings and emotions that may be felt as shameful in other settings (Goffman 1963). The same understanding and reduction in shame may be felt when groups of alcohol dependents come together to discuss their experiences, as is enabled by the group therapy setting of Fáilte.

The women found it especially powerful that other participants and staff members accepted them even when they displayed candid honesty about their life in addiction, which had previously invoked feelings of shame. By accepting a woman regardless of her harmful and stigmatized behavior, both the other women in the program and the counselors showed her compassion. This acceptance encouraged a woman to practice a similar compassion towards herself, and is therefore related to the development of self-compassion. Pauline (Week 9) spoke of the interactions between an "alcoholic understanding," acceptance, and self-acceptance, saying:

I think because we all have different stories and I think hearing it from somebody that is as tormented as yourself telling you that you know they're proud of you, or you done well today. And you're not sitting feeling like a fraud. You're sitting being brutally honest about something if you know what I mean. And they are all looking at me and they're dead proud of me and they're happy. Yeah, I say maybe I'm not a fraud. Maybe I can sort it out myself and not feel guilty about liking myself.

In a similar manner, Janet found the acceptance of a staff member to be significant, saying that "She has seen the worse in me and she accepted me as myself." With this unconditional acceptance, women felt decreased feelings of shame and increased self-acceptance, which may be tied to a development of self-compassion (Goss and Allan 2012; Neff 2011).

Mindfulness

"I have got all of my feelings back"

As they moved through the program, women's experiences were permeated with the reemergence of feelings and emotions that were absent during addiction. Cameron (Week 6)
compared her new emotions to the lack of emotions she felt before she arrived. She said, "And
see I'm starting to get my emotions again, which I don't have. I have cried since I came in and I
don't cry. I don't let it out." Jennifer (Week 11) reflected on what she gained in the program,
saying:

Like, I have got all of my feelings back and I'm really, really happy. I'm in a happy place at the minute because I have feelings. Oh my god, the love that I feel for my kids again is unbelievable. It's like they're newborns. Whereas before I didn't have that. [...] I'm so grateful that I have learned to laugh, love, live, cry, everything in here. Every emotion has been brought back.

"Show them how to talk"

Unfortunately, not all of the emotions that emerge in the program are positive ones.

When negative feelings of pain, shame, self-criticism, and cravings emerge, participants learn to deal with their emotions appropriately. They learn, as Christine stated, "[that] you can't make a big deal out of everything." More than fifty percent of participants said that talking about their feelings allowed them to deal with their emotions for appropriate lengths of time and not allow them to be blown out of proportion. These narrative descriptions parallel the development of mindfulness, and therefore self-compassion, as presented in the literature review (Neff 2011). Hannah (3 years sober) described the relief she gained from verbalizing her internal thoughts, saying:

Well, it's breaking the power out of it. If I hold it within myself, I've still got the power to go and do something silly that I'd regret. But when I talk to somebody, it's taking the power out of it. That control out of it.

Jennifer (Week 11) agreed, explaining:

I talk to myself now. I try to rationalize it, trying to make it not a bigger problem. To try and be realistic about the problem or what I've done or I own up to it. But at least it came out. If it stays in, it'll just get bigger and bigger and bigger.

In particular, talking about cravings and negative emotions allowed women to release their internal thoughts without feeling the need to alleviate them with the use of alcohol. Dawn (18 months sober) said that it had been difficult for her to learn to talk because she had never disclosed her feelings to anybody before arriving at Fáilte. However, she went on to describe the dangers of not talking:

[T]he biggest risk I think for any alcoholic is that because you hold it in and then you isolate. And then the loneliness. To escape out of it you either go and talk about it or else you go and have a drink.

The Value of Attentiveness

Three of the counselors discussed that developing attentiveness also allows participants to handle emotions appropriately and without the use of alcohol. While attentiveness is not a specific component of self-compassion as defined in the literature review, it is clear that it may be very closely related to mindfulness. Hannah described, "Attentive [is] being in the now. Not looking ahead to the future... not looking ahead, not looking back. Being in the now." Being attentive is therefore to refrain from holding onto emotions from the past or about the future for an extended length of time, and instead focusing on the ones at present. This parallels Shorey et al.'s (2014) understanding of mindfulness as an ability to observe an experience with appropriate attention.

In the past, women would often drink when they were overwhelmed with negative or anxious feelings about the past and future. Christine explained that this occurs when "you bring the pain and the hurt and the burdens from yesterday and the fear and the anxiety of what's going to happen to tomorrow." Laura concurred, and said that, in particular, women in addiction drink after remembering emotionally painful memories of the past. She explained that, "they want to live in the past. But the past is no good because they don't want to be in the past. They have to be in the present to move on." Women were often only able to let go of these negative emotions when they drank to forget about them. Jennifer (Week 11) described her medication of her emotions, saying, "I would have drank to hide the feelings – to hide the pain, to hide the hurt."

In their narratives, several women said that when they were not attentive, their heads would "go." This phrase was associated with compulsive over-thinking that often resulted in drinking. Forty percent of participants said that practicing attentiveness by staying in the present moment allowed them to avoid thinking about past pains or worrying about the future, and subsequently to avoid drinking in an effort to subdue such emotions. Therefore, both the participants and counselors saw being attentive as essential to maintaining sobriety. Brianna (Week 3) explained, "As I say again, it's just the way that I'm teaching myself now to live in the moment. Don't think about everything else. You have to because your head will just take over." When asked what happens after this moment, she responded, "I'll put a drink in my mouth again." Hannah (3 years sober) agreed when she said, "Even when I am still in recovery today, if I start to think what's ahead of me or my past, my head will go. I have to keep bringing myself back to the now. And that's where I find peace and happiness." Christine echoed these thoughts when she explained the usefulness of attentiveness, saying, "A lot of people drink because

they're not happy. So if you can stay focused on your sobriety today and keep happy today, why should you pick up that drink."

In several cases, the ability to practice attentiveness did much more than reduce the risk to drink. Three women associated their ability to practice attentiveness with peace of mind. As Janet (8 months sober) described:

I live for today and in today and if what I do today and I do it to the best of my ability and we're all not perfect but if I do what is good and what is right for today, I don't have to worry about yesterday and I don't have to worry about tomorrow. Because when tomorrow comes I've looked after yesterday. And that was fantastic freedom. When you wake up in the morning and you know I might not have done everything perfect and you might not have done everything right but you did your best. And nothing, no money in this world, could buy that peace of mind. It's so amazing and it's so hard to explain.

The notion of attentiveness, and the mindfulness it promotes, as essential to sobriety are further discussed in the section on self-efficacy and relapse.

The Development of Attentiveness

As discussed previously, developing spirituality helped some women improve their mindfulness and attentiveness. The program at Fáilte also encourages women to strengthen their mindfulness by practicing thirty minutes of meditation two times a day. Dawn (18 months sober) said that she learned how to be attentive directly from these meditation exercises. Brianna (Week 3) also spoke highly of the benefits she experienced from meditation, saying:

[I]t's bringing you back to yourself. You don't have to think about anything else. It's just time for you. Even when I come out of it, I would be in great form because it's just time to shut yourself down and have rest, think about nothing, and then get up and start again.

However, the women's narratives also highlighted the fact that it often took significant time and effort to be able to succeed at meditation. Candice (Week 6) and Sarah (Week 3) both voiced their frustration at the difficulty of perfecting meditation. Candice explained her experience with

mediation saying, "It's hard sometimes because things can come into your head. Like meditation, I'm struggling with that really bad. So meditation I would overthink and overthink and then I have to keep trying to bring myself back." Sarah had similar feelings about meditation, as she described, "I'm not great at meditation. I do try but it's hard. I just can't get the grasp on it yet."

Nonetheless, Sarah was still able to see the potential offered by mediation. She said:

[One time] I was able to say the ma-ra-na-tha and not have any other thoughts. And it was great because you just felt relaxed and at ease because there were no other thoughts in your head. So I do think if I could get a good grasp on meditation, it would be a good help to sort of settle your mind and slow you down.

Staff members make a conscious effort to encourage participants to remain mindful and practice attentiveness outside of meditation. For example, Christine said that she would often try to encourage participants in the program to be attentive even when in day-to-day conversations. When she heard a woman talking about her plans for the future after she left the program, she would say:

[L]isten, can we bring it back to the now and talk about whatever we were talking about today. And it's not that, and I say to them as well, it's not that I'm being rude and saying that we can't talk about it but I can only say this to you so many times and I am going to keep on saying it. I don't mind being that annoying person who brings you back because in six weeks, ten weeks time when you are home you have to call yourself back on it. I'm not here, the staff's not here. You need to be the person who calls yourself on it. I've gone too far ahead, I need to focus on the now.

Self-Confidence

Both participants and counselors frequently pointed to increases in self-esteem and self-concept as signs that the program had a positive impact on women. In fact, almost sixty percent of participants said that their self-confidence had increased significantly while participating in the program. However, when reviewing their narratives, it is apparent that their definitions of self-confidence fall in line with self-compassion.

While in the program, women learn that it is important to refrain from comparing themselves to others. In doing so, they are encouraged to focus on accepting their goodness and imperfections instead of being self-critical when comparing themselves to others they deem to be "perfect." Counselors model this component of self-compassion by not comparing the girls to one another, and encouraging the girls to do the same (Neff 2011). For example, Hannah said:

I keep saying this in groups, we're all equal. But never compare yourself to anyone else. Because comparing yourself to somebody else or to somebody else's story would drive you mad. Comparing yourself will really lead you back to addiction because, if you compare yourself to anyone – I want to be like them – you're not happy within yourself [...] You know and I never compare girls because they're all going to get it at their own time. They're all unique individuals.

Jennifer's (Week 11) interview showed that she was able to accept her own imperfections. She said:

It was all to do with accepting myself that I'm not perfect, nobody is perfect. Because I would have beat myself up. Like I'm sitting here today – I'm not dressed, we have no hair dryer to do our hair. Before [...] I would have had to have the perfect figure. I had to have the perfect makeup, perfect hair for people to like me. Whereas now I realize that I don't have to be perfect for people to like me. So then that gives you more confidence within yourself, so then you naturally start to feel better and feel the goodness in yourself because you gained the confidence.

As Jennifer correlates her ability to accept her imperfections with an increase in self-confidence, she serves to support the existence of a close relationship between understandings of self-confidence and self-compassion (Gilbert and Procter 2006).

Self-Efficacy and the Potential for Relapse

While the literature review failed to produce a conclusive determination of the benefits of self-efficacy in the maintenance of sobriety, participants and counselors spoke freely of the need to maintain cautious optimism about their future (Kadden and Litt 2011). With this caution, the

women in Fáilte frame their future with positivity while practicing attentiveness to avoid falling victim to complacency.

The Notion of a Program as Lifelong

Throughout therapy, counselors make an active effort to instill in participants the necessity of continuing their program long after leaving the treatment program itself. Therefore, neither participants nor counselors viewed therapy as a quick fix to alcohol dependence. In fact, counselors made no promises about whether any women would be able to maintain their sobriety after leaving the twelve-week program. Hannah described this, saying:

We don't know who will be successful or not. But all we can do is encourage every single girl to go to A.A. meetings when they get out, to go to N.A. meetings when they get out, come back for aftercare.

With this mindset, the journey of sobriety was framed as one that was lifelong and requires constant effort, time, and attention in order to maintain. Staff members explained that continuing the program meant continuing to practice the tools learned in therapy. These tools include self-discipline, honesty, and attentiveness. All four counselors that were interviewed stressed the helpfulness and necessity of attending aftercare and A.A. meetings to continue strengthen these tools after leaving treatment. As Laura explained:

So the alcoholic has to be fed [...] they must go to their aftercare because somebody was saying A.A. plus aftercare equals sobriety. So they have to do that, it's a must. It's a must for them to stay sober. To have their sobriety.

These lessons were readily accepted by most participants, whose self-efficacy was prefaced with cautious optimism.

Cautious Optimism

More than ninety percent of the women in both the beginning and the end of the program voiced confidence, hopefulness, and expectations about their new lives of sobriety following therapy. Nicole (Week 4) was particularly optimistic about completing the remainder of treatment and entering into a new phase of her life, saying, "I'm just looking forward to the life that I'm going to have." She said that this hope kept her motivated to continue staying with the program even during difficult days. Jennifer (Week 11) also reflected this positivity when she spoke of the quality time she would get to spend with her children after leaving the center. She said, "I am so excited now at the thought of being sober." Significantly, only one participant, Pauline (Week 9), stated that she was worried about leaving the program and maintaining her sobriety without the support of the staff.

However, even optimistic comments were presented with the understanding that too much confidence of success could lead to complacency that may lead to relapse. Janet (8 months sober) voiced this caution saying, "But I'm not cured, I never will be cured. And I know that and I'm very aware of becoming complacent. Because once I become complacent I'm back down that bottle again." This statement contrasts the previous comments of unbarred optimism and confidence about maintaining sobriety. Unlike Nicole and Jennifer, Janet had already suffered multiple relapses on her journey of sobriety and had attended more than five treatment centers. Her understanding and awareness of the danger of complacency may therefore be granted by her previous experiences with relapse. Yet, this period of sobriety remained her longest and Janet maintained hope that this would be her final encounter with therapy.

With the danger of complacency in mind, in forty percent of interviews with both participants and counselors it was emphasized that alcohol dependents cannot make claims that

they will never drink again. Instead, the program encourages participants to focus on staying sober in the day by using the tools they learn in therapy. More specifically, counselors draw upon lessons of attentiveness and mindfulness of emotions when encouraging women to refrain from drinking. Christine gave a short script of a conversation she would have with a participant who wanted to drink, with Christine encouraging her to be mindful of her cravings by being attentive to her present emotions.

Christine: "You feel like drinking now. Ok."

[Waits several minutes]

Christine: "Do you feel like drinking now?"

Participant: "Well I was thinking..."

Christine: "No, you're living in the past. You're thinking about how you felt like drinking

there. Do you feel like drinking now?"

Janet explained that looking at sobriety in these simple terms helped to relieve the pressure of never being able to pick up a drink again. She said:

I can't get complacent. So I can only joke about for today. And I'd love to say to you — Oh yeah, look, I'll see you next year and I'll be dead sober — I don't know. I don't know. And yet again if I look after today, yesterdays and tomorrows will look after themselves. So it's only today. That's what makes it easy, it makes it simple for me. Just today. That is so simple.

Dawn (18 months sober) agreed, saying:

The key is to stay sober today. If you want to have a drink tomorrow that's okay, but stay sober today. Because as an alcoholic if somebody says you can't drink ever again in your whole life, that is so scary. But if somebody says to you just don't drink today, just today, that's something you can get your head around. So I don't even think about the fact that I can never drink. I have to think I'm just not going to drink today. But if I want to drink tomorrow, we'll see what it's like. And that's the only way we can do it.

Women's acceptance of the potential to relapse offers an interesting insight into the concept of self-efficacy. While research argues that increased measures of self-efficacy result in increased levels of success following therapy, the approach favored by Fáilte and its residents views overconfidence to be detrimental, as it can lead to a failure to maintain a program and practice its

tools following treatment (Ilgen, McKellar, and Tiet 2005; Moos and Moos 2006). The literature review also showed evidence that self-efficacy may increase the longer abstinence is maintained (Romo et al. 2009). However, in what may offer a point of contrast to this argument, the three participants who had maintained their sobriety for the longest periods of time did not voice strong feelings of self-efficacy. Instead, Hannah (3 years sober), Dawn (18 months sober), and Janet (8 months sober) were more likely to attribute their continued sobriety to a careful and conscious control of their confidence a refrain from making claims or promises about long-term sobriety.

I think you have to be careful not to be under any illusions that you've done it. And I think that can be dangerous. I think you have to have a healthy fear and an understanding of what it means to live as a recovering alcoholic [...] You know you have to be in the mindset that I can only stay sober if I do certain things every day. If not, generally people go out again. You have to be very humble. Very, very humble. And accepting of your weakness. (Dawn)

Framing Relapse with Self-Compassion

As discussed in the literature review, in traditional notions of success, relapse may be viewed as the failure of an individual to be strong enough to resist alcohol. Therefore, to many, the potential to relapse (or a relapse itself) may be seen as a weakness on the part of the dependent pursuing sobriety. This study confirmed this argument, as several participants described experiences of relapse that were followed by strong feelings of shame, guilt, and failure. Counselors were aware that such feelings may dissuade a woman from returning to the program to seek help. With this in mind, they made an effort to welcome a woman back to the program regardless of whether she was returning for her second of twentieth time. Amy (Week 8) described her interactions with a staff member after relapsing and returning to repeat the program for her second time. While she was worried about what the counselors would think of

her, she said that she did not experience any judgment upon her return. She described her interaction with a staff member, saying:

She came over to myself and John and she sat down. Hello Amy. She remembered me and I said Sister, Sister. [She said] Oh, you did a runner last year you left. And I said I know, sorry Sister. She said you know it's never too late. You know you might get it this time. You know she was lovely [...] And the same with the other staff too. They were all really supportive. There's no looking at you as if you're wasting their time.

Staff members at Fáilte also attempt to decrease the potential for shame and guilt by framing relapse as a part of the journey of sobriety. Christine even saw relapse as a positive experience that enlightened participants to the danger of complacency. She said:

I see it as a benefit to me and to them because they already know what it's like to do a program. They already know what it's like to do a program, to go out maybe have a couple of months of sobriety. Maybe go out and drink the week later. They have that extra knowledge, the fear of the unknown when you come out.

The framing of relapse as something that is positive helped participants to avoid seeing it as their own personal flaw if they failed in maintaining their sobriety. This effort helped increase participants' self-compassion and proactively prepared them to treat the challenge of relapse with self-compassion (Goss and Allen 2012). As counselors framed relapse in this light, participants subsequently came to accept this framing. However, in the light of this thesis, the harsh honesty and acceptance of the potential to relapse may in fact only be made possible with self-compassion.

Discussion

The self-concept of women who sought treatment at Fáilte was extremely negative, as participants described patterns of self-criticism and self-hate while in addiction. In fact, most women were aware that they were not acting "normal" and were therefore aware of the deviance

of their actions. This realization resulted in isolative behaviors and perpetuated the harmful drinking that caused their initial isolation. However, such an understanding and self-concept did not seem to motivate an entry into therapy. Instead, the women's narratives frequently stated that they chose to enter therapy because they believed that they deserved to be content and have a meaningful life without addiction. In other words, they loved themselves enough to get help. These desires suggest that the women who entered Fáilte already possessed initial feelings of self-worth, and therefore self-compassion.

Cindy said that she often explained this to the women in hopes that it would encourage them to begin to look at themselves more positively, saying:

The first thing I would always say to people is the first good thing you have actually done is coming here. You knew you were in trouble with your living and something wasn't going right and the first big step for you is walking through those doors.

Therefore, it does not seem that Fáilte enables a development of self-compassion in an individual who possesses none, but that the program increases initial feelings of self-compassion.

Counselors aimed to decrease the self-hatred and self-criticism practiced by women who entered the program. Through an examination of the interview data, it is apparent that the program at Fáilte enabled such reductions by increasing participants' abilities to practice self-compassion. The successful development of self-compassion is evident, as a majority of women described the way in which they came to accept themselves over their twelve weeks in the program. Janet (8 months sober) explained her self-concept after therapy, saying, "I do like myself. I do like myself. And that is a hell of a change coming from hating myself." Yet, even participants did not seem to understand how such a development of self-compassion occurred. Jennifer (Week 11) voiced her own confusion at the change she saw in herself, saying:

I don't understand how I have changed so much without realizing it [...] I don't understand how it happened. We know we've got our topics and we know that we have

the tools and we know what we're supposed to do. But as I say, for me it happened naturally. I would love to get inside my mind and to be able to read it. To know how it's actually happening if that makes sense. But it's the program. The program just worked. It has worked for me, definitely has worked for me.

Through an examination of the program and participants' subjective experiences with it, it is apparent that both relabeling and spirituality mediated substantial improvements in self-compassion.

All participants were aware of the stigmatization of alcohol dependence and agreed that the label of "alcoholic" carried such stigma. Interestingly, the program requires participants to accept that they have alcohol dependence in order to begin their journey of sobriety. However, it also encourages them to reconstruct the label of "alcoholic" in the process. While a majority of participants adopted this self-label, they did not subsequently accept or apply the stigma of the label to themselves. Instead, participants refrained from feeling self-stigma by regaining control of the label.

Women regained control of the label by framing an "alcoholic" as an individual who has an illness that does not discriminate. This framing allowed women to reclaim feelings of normalcy and reduce their feelings of blame or shame for having the condition. Although women expressed shame of their alcohol dependence at the beginning of therapy, they often said that hearing that other women had experienced the same thing reduced such shame. As a result, the women did not feel judged or condemned by others for identifying with the label of "alcoholic." By allowing alcohol dependence and its resultant behaviors to be normalized, the women were able to increase their acceptance of the condition. The existence of an "alcoholic understanding" shared by participants and counselors was therefore a significant factor in the acceptance of such a self-label. Women further separated themselves from negative conceptions of "alcoholics" by emphasizing that they were doing something about their addiction. Therefore, participants

accepted the label of "alcoholic" by framing it in a light that recognizes its harm, but does not confer anything about themselves as people and simultaneously places themselves as proactive actors in its control.

The women also accepted the label of "alcoholic" with the precondition that they were "good." In this light, participants adopted two self-labels. The self-label of a "good person" was constructed intentionally by staff members and encouraged through therapeutic techniques. Counselors made efforts to tell women that they were good people and to treat them as such. The primary barriers to accepting this label and to subsequently develop self-compassion were a woman's existing self-perceptions and beliefs about the treatment she deserves. Women had never felt that they were good people because others had never treated them as such. For example, several women described instances in which they were sexually assaulted at a young age by family members or trusted family friends. Others described experiences in which they felt rejected, isolated, or disrespected. As this treatment continued over the course of their childhood and into their adult lives, women began to accept that they would feel rejected and alone for the rest of their lives, and started to believe that they deserved to be treated that way. When these attitudes became engrained in their self-concept, women found it difficult to begin to relate to themselves in a more positive way. Sarah (Week 3) explained what was holding her back from accepting herself, saying, "Just years of not feeling that. It's just years of thinking that I wasn't good enough [... So] the biggest challenge is to feel properly good about myself. A proper good feeling that will last." Pauline (Week 9) agreed, saying:

You're used to feeling pain like that every day and I don't know a support worker said to me the other day you're just used to being unhappy and you're scared to be happy which is probably right because I can't remember the last time I was happy [...] I don't know how to like myself. I think everything has been buried for so long. Like life hardens you, if you know what I mean.

Therefore, a major obstacle to self-compassion and the benefits it has to sobriety is the modification of a woman's self-concept.

In Fáilte a change was initially mediated by the non-shaming, non-judgmental, and antistigmatizing treatment of the staff members. Over time, this treatment was accepted by participants, who began to believe that they were worthy of such positive treatment and modified their self-concept accordingly. When asked if being told she was good by counselors helped her feel better about herself, Jennifer (Week 11) responded:

Yes because I haven't been told. I haven't been told that. So it does, it really helps. It gives you a boost. It really helps your confidence so now actually, when you have more confidence you feel better within yourself so it really just helped.

As such, the anti-stigmatizing treatment of counselors is deemed to be a significant factor in reducing self-shame and self-stigma. This self-label was also encouraged through repetitions of the mantra "I am good. I was always good. God made me good." While this phrase was often not accepted at first, the women slowly came to believe it as the concept sank into their subconscious. This was further encouraged as participants began to realize that their destructive and harmful behaviors during addiction did not continue when they had extended periods of sobriety.

The fact that both labels could exist simultaneously was often surprising to women, and was met with resistance. This was largely due to the significant amount of harm caused by each woman while she was in addiction, and for which she often felt guilt and shame. However, over time, participants came to accept that the labels were not mutually exclusive, and that they were both "good" people and "alcoholics." This acceptance allowed them to see their goodness while not holding resentment towards themselves for having alcohol dependence. As Dawn (18 months sober) explained:

I had not truly accepted my alcoholism before I came in here. I came to accept it for what it was and not hate myself for it. When I went back out again it was so different. I have no shame now. I don't run about telling everybody I'm a recovering alcoholic but if it came up I wouldn't be ashamed or embarrassed.

A majority of women also expressed the benefits that they found from increasing their spirituality. With spirituality, women were aware that a higher power loved them for both their goodness and their flaws, and was protecting them in the present and in the future. This understanding enabled women to feel less worried about their own future and gave them a feeling of self-worth. Several participants resisted the fact that God loved them, mostly due to the fact that they believed they were bad people. However, as participants began to slowly accept the self-label that they were "good," spirituality came more naturally to them and provided a source of support throughout their recovery.

It is difficult to determine the degree to which self-compassion initiated modifications in self-labeling and increases in spirituality, or whether self-compassion resulted from such increases. For example, the self-label of a "good person" could not be accepted until participants were able to see their own goodness and not possess consuming feelings of self-hatred.

Therefore, participants were required to have some underlying understanding of themselves as good people, which could be facilitated by the inklings of self-compassion as previously discussed. In a similar way, participants found it difficult to accept the unconditional love of God until they came to believe they were good people and therefore worthy of love. In both situations, it seems as if initial feelings of self-compassion were necessary to initiate modifications of self-labeling and an increase in spirituality. However, once these processes began, they worked as a positive feedback mechanism in which each encouraged the further development of self-compassion. As participants were often not able to explain the complex

interactions between these variables, these interpretations are merely theoretical. Nevertheless, they seem to be related.

Participants and counselors viewed sobriety as a journey with the ever-present potential to relapse. For this reason, participants were reminded of the necessity to continue practicing the tools that they had learned in therapy. The most significant of these tools was the practice of mindfulness. Mindfulness was particularly essential to participants who were newly sober because sobriety brought back emotions that were absent or suppressed during addiction. While some emotions, such as joy and love, were welcomed by participants, other emotions were more difficult to cope with. Participants were encouraged to overcome feelings of self-hate, negativity, self-criticism, and cravings by practicing mindfulness and attentiveness.

Participants found that it was beneficial to talk about their emotions with other people in order to remain mindful. They believed that this was an essential practice to continue once leaving treatment, and could be facilitated by attending A.A. and aftercare. Additionally, participants said that framing situations with mindfulness allowed them to let go of hurts of the past and worries about the future that would have previously led to the consumption of alcohol as a coping mechanism. The specific way in which mindfulness increased was not found in the interview data. While some women found meditation to help in its development, others did not. Staff members therefore adopted the habit of constantly reminding participants to be mindful and hoped that it would eventually be accepted.

With these tools and a self-compassionate mindset developed in therapy, participants felt strong notions of self-efficacy upon their departure from the program. However, participants were aware that their program is lifelong and could therefore never vow to refrain from drinking for the rest of their lives. In fact, participants frequently said that being over-confident might

nurture the complacency that would lead to relapse. As such, the women believed that it was important to remain mindful of not drinking day by day. Therefore, the women were both optimistic and cautious when asked about their futures. This caution seemed to grow as the length of sobriety increased for each participant, and offers insight into the way in which sobriety is assisted by restrained self-efficacy.

Conclusions

Self-Compassion

Self-compassion was seen as essential to maintain sobriety following therapy. Christine explained that possessing self-compassion allows women to pick themselves up when they have negative feeling about themselves that urge them to drink. She described how women face two paths when they get out of therapy, saying that they have a choice of "the hard road of bringing yourself back up, loving yourself and protecting your sobriety or go find the drink that use to help you escape all of your thoughts and feelings." She said that with self-compassion, "you can pick yourself up and remind yourself that you are good, you're kind, you're considerate, you're loving" and get through difficult situations without turning to alcohol.

These Things Take Time

Through an examination of the interview data, it is apparent that the development of self-compassion takes significant time. Several women said that their negative self-perceptions were encouraged by Irish culture, which manifested itself in marital and familial relationships that did not positively influence a woman's self-concept. Although it is essential to decrease self-hate and

the harmful drinking that it promotes, it proves to be difficult to change women's habitual and cultural ways of relating to themselves. As Dawn (18 months sober) explained:

And to be honest, for a long time I was thinking this is rubbish, this is not going to work. You've got to tell people that they need to bloody change or else. And it happened very slowly but I think subconsciously maybe just slowly it just being constantly drilled into you and then I started [...] to feel that I was worth something [...] And as I say it didn't happen just in the first week or two, in the first meeting or second. It was twelve weeks of that.

Counselors therefore encouraged participants to be patient in their journey with the program and in their search for sobriety. Even upon completing the program, participants may not have developed complete self-compassion or self-acceptance. This necessitates the importance of continuing the program after they leave in order to continue strengthening their self-compassion, which will work to mitigate harmful drinking levels. Hannah (3 years sober) highlighted this, saying:

It's one day at a time and yes I do love myself and respect myself a lot more but it's a lifelong journey. You know it's lifelong. I know I have a lot of things I still have yet to change about myself and my own patterns, but there's a time for everything. And it takes time and it's lifelong.

Recommendations and Challenges for the Future

The narratives presented in this study suggest that women arrived at Fáilte with and because they had a baseline of self-compassion. Although the program significantly increased the development of this capability, it was essential to possess an inkling of self-worth in order to decide to pursue therapy. As such, the question about what happens to those who do not have such traces of self-compassion remains. It is imaginable that those individuals never make it to treatment, as they do not believe that they deserve it, or that they are pressured by others to enter a program and leave early because they are not committed to it for themselves. However, any claims such as these are merely hypothetical, as those who were interviewed all stated that they

independently chose to pursue therapy. It is nevertheless crucial to begin to ask how dependents who have no baseline of self-compassion may be motivated to seek help or to desire sobriety.

Additionally, whether the program is beneficial to those who do not have a starting point of self-compassion remains to be explored.

This study suggests that it is not necessary to change the terminology of "alcoholic" in order to reduce the self-shame felt from its stigmatization. This is because women did not resist the label of "alcoholic" itself, but the stigma that it carries and what that stigma implies about them if they were to accept and identify with the label. Alcohol dependents should instead be encouraged to not solely identify themselves according to this label. Of course, there will be those who resist this encouragement because they feel that they fulfill the existing negative descriptions of "alcoholics." In this situation, it is useful to encourage the dependent to realize that she is *more* than those descriptions by identifying as a "good person." By adopting a simultaneous, if not primary, self-label of herself as "good person," an alcohol dependent is able to resist applying the negative connotations that are implied from the "alcoholic" label onto herself as a person. In doing so, she is able to define what the term "alcoholic" means in a way that she can accept without having to identify with negative and stereotypical representations of "alcoholics." A helpful framing may utilize components of medicalization in which the definition of "alcoholism" promotes understandings of the normalcy of the condition and reduces the self-shame of those who are alcohol dependents. In this situation, the stigmatized label is reclaimed and defined according to standards that encourage society to look less judgmentally upon an alcohol dependent and an alcohol dependent to look more positively upon herself.

The non-stigmatizing treatment and acceptance given to women by counselors and other participants was a significant factor in increasing their self-concept, self-acceptance, and self-

compassion. Participants' experiences in therapy showcase the way in which modifying the treatment of alcohol dependents may alter their self-treatment. In doing so, this study supports the flexibility and fluidity of the construction of one's self-concept and the way in which the development of self-compassion may support positive modifications of one's self-concept. However, the relative ease with which a self-concept may be changed that is evidenced by this study provides concerns for the future of alcohol dependents upon their completion of the program. Upon leaving, many participants are faced with the challenge of returning to environments that may lack the affirming treatment offered by counselors, and women may instead feel the shaming and judgmental treatment that initiated and perpetuated their addiction. With this treatment, it is entirely possible that participants will again modify their self-concept back to what it originally was at the start of treatment. To mitigate these risks, it is important for participants to surround themselves with supportive networks upon their departure, which may be found in A.A. or aftercare. These networks will encourage women to maintain and strengthen their self-compassion throughout their journey of sobriety.

References

- Andréasson, Sven, Anna-Karin Danielson, and Sara Wallhed-Fin. 2013. "Preferences Regarding Treatment for Alcohol Problems." *Alcohol and Alcoholism* 48(6): 694-699.
- Bales, Robert F. 1991. "Cultural Differences in Rates of Alcoholism." Pp. 538-53 in *Society, Culture, and Drinking Patterns Reexamined*, edited by David J. Pittman and Helene

 Raskin White. New Jersey: Alcohol Research Documentation, Inc.
- Becker, Howard S. 1963. *Outsiders: Studies in the Sociology of Deviance*. New York: The Free Press.
- Brady, Kathleen T. and Carrie L. Randall. 1999. "Gender Differences in Substance Use Disorders." *Psychiatric Clinics of North America* 22(2): 241-252.
- Braehler, Christine, Andrew Gumley, Janice Harper, Sonia Wallace, John Norrie, and Paul Gilbert. 2012. "Exploring Change Processes in Compassion Focused Therapy in Psychosis: Results of a Feasibility Randomized Controlled Trial." *British Journal of Clinical Psychology* 52: 199-214.
- Bride, Brian E. 2001. "Single-Gender Treatment of Substance Abuse: Effect on Treatment Retention and Completion." *Social Work Research* 25(4): 223-232.
- Brooks, Michelle, Frances Kay-Lambkin, Jenny Bowman, and Steven Childs. 2012. "Self-Compassion Amongst Clients with Problematic Alcohol Use." *Mindfulness* 3(4): 308-317.
- Butler, Shane. 2002. *Alcohol, Drugs and Health Promotion in Modern Ireland*. Dublin: Institute of Public Administration.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2014. "Alcohol and Public Health." Accessed on November 11, 2014. Available at www.cdc.gov/alcohol/faqs.htm#alcoholismAbuse

- Central Survey Unit. 2012. "Adult Drinking Patterns in Northern Ireland 2011." Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety. Accessed November 22, 2014. Available at http://www.dhsspsni.gov.uk/adult_drinking_patterns_in_northern_ireland_2011.pdf.
- Charmaz, Kathy. 2008. "Grounded Theory as an Emergent Method." Pp. 155-172 in *Handbook of Emergent Methods*, edited by S.S. Hesse-Biber and P. Leavy. New York: The Guildford Press.
- Combs-Orme, Terri, John E. Helzer, and Richard H. Miller. 1988. "The Application of Labeling Theory To Alcoholism." *Journal of Social Service Research* 11(2): 73-91.
- Conrad, Peter, Joseph W. Schneider, and Joseph C. Gusfield. 1980. *Deviance and Medicalization: From Badness to Sickness*. St. Louis: Mosby.
- Cooley, Charles Horton. 1922. *Human Nature and the Social Order*. New York: C. Scribner's Sons.
- Corrigan, Patrick W., Amy C. Watson, and Leah Barr. 2006. "The Self-Stigma of Mental Illness: Implications for Self-Esteem and Self-Efficacy." *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology* 25(9): 875-884.
- Crocker, Jennifer, and Brenda Major. 1989. "Social Stigma and Self-Esteem: The Self-Protective Properties of Stigma." *Psychological Review* 96(4): 608-630.
- Demmel, Ralf, Jeniifer Nicolai, and Dagmar Maria Jenko. 2006. "Self-Efficacy and Alcohol Relapse: Concurrent Validity of Confidence Measures, Self-Other Discrepancies, and Prediction of Treatment Outcome." *Journal of Studies on Alcohol* 67(4): 637-641.
- Denzin, Norman K. 1991. "The AA Group." Pp. 702-715 in *Society, Culture, and Drinking Patterns Reexamined,* Edited by David J. Pittman and Helene Raskin White.

 New Jersey: Alcohol Research Documentation, Inc.

- Field, Peter B. 1991. "A New Cross-Cultural Study of Drunkenness." Pp. 32-61 in *Society, Culture, and Drinking Patterns Reexamined,* edited by David J. Pittman and Helene

 Raskin White. New Jersey: Alcohol Research Documentation, Inc.
- Fingarette, Herbert. 1991. "Alcoholism: The Mythical Disease." Pp. 417-438 in *Society, Culture, and Drinking Patterns Reexamined,* edited by David J. Pittman and Helene Raskin White. New Jersey: Alcohol Research Documentation, Inc.
- Galanter, Marc, Helen Dermatis, Gregory Bunt, Caroline Williams, Manuel Trujilo, and Paul Steinke. 2007. "Assessment of Spirituality and its Relevance to Addiction Treatment." *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment* 33(3): 257-264.
- Germer, Christopher K. and Kristin D. Neff. 2013. "Self-Compassion in Clinical Practice." Clinical Psychology 69(8): 1-12.
- Gilbert, Laura. 2014. "Every Contact Counts: Improving Access to Treatment for Alcohol Misuse in Northern Ireland." Lundbeck Limited. Accessed March 29, 2015. Available at http://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/22662/1/Every%20Contact%20Counts%20 %20Improving%20access%20to%20treatment%20for%20alcohol%20misuse.pdf.
- Gilbert, Paul and Sue Procter. 2006. "Compassionate Mind Training for People with High Shame and Self-Criticism: Overview and Pilot Study of a Group Therapy Approach." *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy* 13: 353:379.
- Goffman, Erving. 1959. *The Presentation of Self in Everyday Life*. Garden City, New York: DoubleDay.
- Goffman, Erving. 1963. *Stigma: Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity*. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, Inc.

- Goss, Ken and Steven Allan. 2012. "An Introduction to Compassion-Focused Therapy for Eating Disorders (CFT-E)." Pp. 303-314 in *Eating and Its Disorders*, edited by John R. E. Fox and Ken P. Goss. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.
- Gray, Rebecca. 2010. "Shame, Labeling and Stigma: Challenges to Counseling Clients in Alcohol and Other Drug Settings." *Contemporary Drug Problems* 37: 685-703.
- Greenfield, Shelly F., Sudie E. Back, Katie Lawson, and Kathleen T. Brady. 2010. "Substance Abuse in Women." *Psychiatric Clinics of North America* 32(2): 339-355.
- Health and Research Board. 2014. "Treated Problem Alcohol Use in Ireland: Figures for 2012 from The National Drug Treatment Reporting System." National Health Information Systems, Health Research Board.
- Health Service Executive. 2008. "Alcohol Related Harm in Ireland." Available at www.drugs.ie/resourcesfiles/research/2008/4045-4323.pdf.
- Hedman, Erik, Peter Strom, Angela Stunkel, and Ewa Morteg. 2013. "Shame and Guilt in Social Anxiety Disorder: Effects of Cognitive Behavior Therapy and Association with Social Anxiety and Depressive Symptoms." *PLOS ONE* 8(4): 1-8.
- Ilgen, Mark, John McKellar, and Quyen Tiet. 2005. "Absitence Self-Efficacy and Abstinence 1

 Year After Substance Use Disorder Treatment." *Journal of Consulting and Clinical*Psychology 73(6): 1175-1180.
- Ipsos, M. 2012. "Alcohol: Public Knowledge, Attitudes and Behaviours." Report. Health

 Research Board. Assessed November 22, 2014. Available at:

 http://www.hrb.ie/uploads/tx_hrbpublications/Alcohol_-

 Public Knowledge Attitudes and Behaviours Report.pdf.

- Institute of Alcohol Studies. 2013. "Alcohol-Related Morbidity Rates." Accessed on November 20, 2014. Available at http://www.ias.org.uk/Alcohol-knowledge-centre/Health-impacts/Factsheets/Alcohol-related-morbidity-rates.aspx.
- Jarusiewicz, Betty. 2008. "Spirituality and Addiction." *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly* 18(4): 99-109.
- Jellink, E.M. 1991. "Phases of Alcohol Addiction." Pp. 403- 416 in *Society, Culture, and Drinking Patterns Reexamined*, edited by David J. Pittman and Helene Raskin White.

 New Jersey: Alcohol Research Documentation, Inc.
- Karp, David A. and Lara B. Birk. 2013. "Listening to Voices: Patient Experience and the Meanings of Mental Illness." Pp. 23-40 in *Handbook of the Sociology of Mental Health*,
 Second Edition, Handbooks of Sociology and Social Research, edited by Carol S.
 Aneshensel, Jo C. Phelan, and Alex Bierman. New York: Springer.
- Kelly, John F. and Cassandra M. Westerhoff. 2010. "Does it Matter How We Refer to Individuals With Substance-Related Conditions? A Randomized Study of Two Commonly Used Terms." *International Journal of Drug Policy* 21(3): 202-207.
- Kelly, John F. and M. Claire Green. 2014. "Toward an Enhanced Understanding of the Psychological Mechanisms by Which Spirituality Aids Recovery in Alcoholics Anonymous." *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly* 32(2-3): 299-318.
- Keyes, K. M., M. L. Hatzenbuehler, K. A. McLaughlin, B. Link, M. Olfson, B. F. Grant, and D. Hasin. 2010. "Stigma and Treatment for Alcohol Disorder in the United States."American Journal of Epidemiology 172(12): 1364-1372.
- Lemert, Edwin M. 1951. Social Pathology: A Systematic Approach to the Theory of Sociopathic Behavior. New York: McGraw-Hill.

- Livingston, James D. Teresa Milne, Mei Lan Fang, and Erica Amari. 2011. "The Effectiveness of Interventions for Reducing Stigma Related to Substance Use Disorders: A Systematic Review." *Addiction* 107: 39-50.
- Long, Jean and Deirdre Mongan. 2014. "Alcohol Consumption in Ireland 2013; Analysis of a National Alcohol Diary Survey." Dublin, Ireland: Health Research Board.
- Luker, Kristin. 2008. *Salsa Dancing into the Social Sciences*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Lyons, Suzi, Ena Lynn, Simone Walsh, Marie Sutton, and Jean Long. 2011. "Alcohol-Related Deaths and Deaths Among People Who Were Alcohol Dependent in Ireland, 2004 to 2008." Dublin, Ireland: Health Research Board. Accessed November 22, 2014. Available at http://www.hrb.ie/uploads/tx_hrbpublications/HRB_Trend_Series_01.pdf.
- Mead, George H. 1934. Mind, Self & Society. Chicago IL: The University of Chicago Press.
- Martin, Rosemarie A., Victor, J. Ellingsen, Golfo K. Tzilos, and Damaris J. Rohsenow. 2015.

 "General and Religious Coping Predict Drinking Outcomes for Alcohol Dependents in

 Treatment." *The American Journal on Addictions*.
- Maxwell, Milton A. 1962. "Alcoholics Anonymous: An Interpretation." Pp. 577-585 in *Society, Culture, and Drinking Patterns*, edited by David J. Pittman and Charles R. Snyder. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Memmi, Albert. 1965. The Colonizer and the Colonized. New York: Orion Press.
- Merton, Robert K. 1948. "The Self-Fulfilling Prophecy." *Antioch Review* 8(2): 193-210.
- Moos, Randolf H. and Bernice S. Moos. 2006. "Rates and Predictors of Relapse After Natural and Treated Remission from Alcohol Use." *Addiction* 101(2): 212-222.

- Murray, Thomas S, Vanessa L. Malcarne, and Kathy Goggin. 2003. "Alcohol-Related God/Higher Power Control Beliefs, Locus of Control, and Recovery Within the Alcoholics Anonymous Paradigm." *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly* 21(3): 23-39.
- Neff, Kristin D. 2011. "Self-Compassion, Self-Esteem, and Well-Being." *Social and Personality Psychology Compass* 5(1): 1-12.
- Neff, Kristin D. and Christopher K. Germer. 2013. "A Pilot Study and Randomized Controlled Trial of the Mindful Self-Compassion Program." *Journal of Clinical Psychology* 69(1): 28-44.
- Northern Ireland Executive. 2012. "Adult Drinking Patterns in Northern Ireland 2011." Belfast, Northern Ireland: Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety. Accessed November 22, 2014. Available at http://www.northernireland.gov.uk/news-dhssps-180112-adult-drinking-patterns.
- North South Inter-Parliamentary Association. 2014. "Substance Misuse." Research and
 Information Service of the Northern Ireland Assembly and the Library and Research
 Service of the Houses of the Oireachtas. Accessed November 22, 2014. Available at
 http://www.niassembly.gov.uk/Documents/RaISe/Publications/2014/north_south/4314.pd
 f.
- Polcin, D.L and S. Zemore. 2004. "Psychiatric Severity and Spirituality, Helping, and Participation in Alcoholics Anonymous During Recovery." *American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse* 30: 577-592.
- Randles, Daniel and Jessica L. Tracy. 2013. "Nonverbal Displays of Shame Predict Relapse and Declining Health in Recovering Alcoholics." *Clinical Psychological Science* 1(2): 149-155.

- Road Safety Authority. 2007. "Ireland Drinking Facts." Report. Ballina: The Road Safety Authority. Accessed December 8, 2014. Available at http://www.rsa.ie/PageFiles/5288/rsa-ireland-drink-driving-facts.pdf.
- Robinson, Elizabeth A.R., Amy R. Krentzman, Jon R. Webb, and Kirk J. Brower. 2011. "Six-Month Changes in Spirituality and Religiousness in Alcoholics Predict Drinking Outcomes at Nine Months." *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs* 72(4): 660-668.
- Roman, Paul M. and Terry C. Blum. 1991. "The Medicalized Conception of Alcohol-Related Problems: Some Social Consequences of Murkiness and Confusion." Pp. 753-774 in *Society, Culture, and Drinking Patterns Reexamined,* edited by David J. Pittman and Helene Raskin White. New Jersey: Alcohol Research Documentation, Inc.
- Romo, L., Y. Le Strat, C. Aubry, S. Marquez, K. Houdeyer, P. Batel, J. Andès, and P. Gorwood. 2009. "The Role of Brief Motivational Intervention on Self-Efficacy and Abstinence in a Cohort of Patients with Alcohol Dependence." *International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine* 39(3): 313-332.
- Rose, Mark Edmund and Cheryl J. Cherpitel. 2011. *Alcohol: Its History, Pharmacology, and Treatment*. Minnesota: Hazelden Foundation.
- Schomerus, Georg, Michael Lucht, Anita Holzinger, Herbert Matschinger, Mauro G. Carta, and Matthias C. Angermeyer. 2011. "The Stigma of Alcohol Dependence Compared With Other Mental Health Disorders: A Review of Population Studies." *Alcohol and Alcoholism* 46(2): 105-112.
- Shaw, Victor N. 2002. "The Social Reaction Perspective." Pp. 199-220 in *Substance Use and Abuse: Sociological Perspectives*. Connecticut: Praeger Publishers.

- Shorey, Ryan C., Hope Brasfield, Scott Anderson, and Gregory L. Stuart. 2014. "Mindfulness Deficits in a Sample of Substance Abuse Treatment Seeking Adults: A Descriptive Investigation." *Journal of Substance Use* 19(1-2): 194-198.
- Tannenbaum, Frank. 1938. Crime and the Community. Boston: Ginn.
- Thomas, William Isaac, and Dorothy Swaine Thomas. 1928. *The Child in America: Behavioral Problems and Programs*. New York: A.A. Knopf.
- Trice, Harrison M. and Paul Michael Roman. 1970. "Delabeling, Relabeling, and Alcoholics Anonymous." *Social Problems* 17(4): 538-546.
- Walsh, Brendan M. and Dermot Walsh. 1973. "Validity of Indices of Alcoholism. A Comment from Irish Experience." *British Journal of Preventive and Social Medicine* 27: 18-26.
- Westermeyer, Joseph. 1982. "Sociocultural Aspects of Alcohol and Drug Use and Abuse" in *Perspectives in Alcohol and Drug Abuse*, edited by Joel Solomon and Kim A. Keeley. Massachusetts: John Wright.
- White, W. and Miller, W. 2007. "The Use of Confrontation in Addiction Treatment: History, Science and Time for Change." *Counselor* 8(4): 12-30.
- William, Henry P., Hans H. Strupp, and Thomas E. Schacht. 1990. "Patient and Therapist Introject, Interpersonal Progress, and Differential Psychotherapy Outcome." *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 58(6): 768-774.
- Williamson, Laura. 2012. "Destignatizing Alcohol Dependence: The Requirement for an Ethical (Not Only Medical) Remedy." *American Journal of Public Health* 102(5): e5-e8.
- Women's Health Council. 2009. "Women and Substance Misuse: Alcohol and Women's Health in Ireland." Accessed December 13, 2014. Available at http://www.drugs.ie/resourcesfiles/research/2009/womenSubstanceOverview.pdf.

- World Health Organization. 2004. "Global Status Report on Alcohol." Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse.
- World Health Organization. 2014. "Global Status Report on Alcohol and Health 2014."

 Switzerland: World Health Organization. Accessed December 13, 2014. Available at http://www.who.int/substance abuse/publications/global alcohol report/en/.
- Zemore, S.E. and Kaskutas. 2004. "Helping, Spirituality, and Alcoholics Anonymous in Recovery." *Journal of Studies on Alcohol* 65: 383-391.

Appendices

Appendix A: Interview Guides

Interview Guide for Participants:

Therapy

- Can you tell me the story of why you think that you are here?
- Why did you choose to come to this center in particular?
- What do you think of therapy today? Has this changed from when you first arrived?
- What do you think is the most useful part of therapy? On the flip side, is there anything you've found particularly difficult or challenging?
- What is the most important lesson you will take away from therapy? When did you learn this?

Staff interactions

- How do you interact with the counselors?
- How does this impact your treatment and recovery?
- How do you get along with your counselor? Do you see eye to eye? Do you have the same goals?
- How would you describe the staff's approach to treating addiction?
- Can you describe a time when you had a conflict with your counselor? Can you describe your favorite counselor?
- What does your counselor think of you? How do you know they feel this way? What do they do?

Prior to therapy

- What is your family like? How did your addiction affect your relationship with your family and friends?
- How did your addiction affect your finances, your employment, your community involvement or sense of belonging to your community?
- Follow up questions will ask the participant to compare these feelings to how they felt when first entering therapy and how they feel now
- How did you view and treat yourself prior to entering treatment? Has this changed?

Result of therapy

- What are you hoping to get out of treatment?
- Have you come to see yourself in a different way? How did you see or think of yourself before coming here and now?
- Have your relationships with those around you changed at all? How do you know? When did this start happening?
- Do the counselors treat you differently than other people you have interacted with (ie. family, friends)? How so?
- Before coming here, how was your relationship with your family? How is it now? How do you hope it will be?

- How do various aspects of treatment make you feel? Ie. How do the meetings make you feel? How does occupational therapy make you feel? How does the meditation make you feel? Etc.
- If applicable, did your family treat you differently following your relapse? Did your counselors? How did that make you feel?
- Has religion played a role in treatment for you? To what extent?

Comparisons

• If applicable, what do you think of your previous treatment experience in comparison to this one? Did you like it more or less and why?

Closing

- Is there anything you're worried about in the long or short-term future? (health, relationships, etc.)
- If you were to bring yourself back to the start of your recovery, would you go to the same center? Why or why not? (Or, if applicable, why did you choose to come back?)
- Is there anything that I am misunderstanding? Is there anything else you would like to share with me that I have missed?

Interview Guide for Counselors:

Before the interview, I will state that no confidential information about participants may be shared with me. The questions I ask are intended to be broad generalizations about the participants of the center as a whole and no specific information about participants may be said on record or off of the record. Additionally, I will ensure that the interviewee is aware that (s)he may skip any questions that (s)he does not want to answer.

Participant interactions

- Do you have a sense when you do an intake about whether someone will be successful?
- How do you feel when somebody relapses? How do they usually feel? What sorts of things do you try to say to somebody who relapses?
- Are there any rules for participants? Why are these in place?

View of participants

- Generally, what do you think of people who come to seek treatment at the center? How do you make them feel this way? What do you do to show them this?
- Do you look at somebody differently if they have been to treatment 20 times compared to once?
- How do families or society often view participant's behaviors and actions? Do you agree? Why or why not? How do you confirm or challenge these views?

Measures of success

• What do you think is the most important thing for participants to take away from treatment? How do you make sure that this happens?

Closing

• Is there anything that I am misunderstanding? Is there anything else you would like to share with me that I have missed?

Appendix B: Informed Consent Forms

Boston College [School of Arts and Sciences]
Informed Consent to be in study [Understanding Compassion-Based Addiction Therapy from a
Participant's Perspective]
Researcher [Kristin Gordon]
Type of consent [Adult Consent Form - Participant]

Introduction

- You are asked to be in a research study. The study will look at how people react to and interpret therapy.
- You were selected to be in the study because you have had compassion-based treatment.
- Please read this form. Ask any questions that you may have before you agree to be in the study.

Purpose of Study:

- The purpose of this research is to study how people respond to compassion-based addiction therapy.
- The total number of people in this study is expected to be twelve.

What will happen in the study:

• If you agree to be in the study, you will answer questions and your answers will be recorded. The interview will last for about one hour.

Risks and Discomforts of Being in the Study:

- During this study, you will be asked to remember your life before, during, and after treatment. These may be sensitive topics.
- You will be asked to give your age, education level, income level, the occupation of your parents, and your marital status but no other identifying information will be collected about you.

Benefits of Being in the Study:

• There are no direct benefits offered to people who participate in the study. However, there may be indirect or unintended benefits during and following the study.

Costs:

• There is no cost to you to be in this research study.

Confidentiality:

• The records from this study will be kept private. In any report that I publish, I will not include any information that will identify you. Research records will be kept in a locked file.

 All electronic material will be stored in a password-protected file. Audio recordings will only be available to the researcher and will be erased when the interview has been copied to an electronic written format.
Subject's Initials
 The researcher will have access to information. A few other people may also have access. These may include government agencies, the Institutional Review Board at Boston College and internal Boston College auditors.
Choosing to be in the study and choosing to quit the study:
 It is your choice to be in this study. If you choose not to be in this study, it will not affect your current or future relationship with the University. You are able to stop at any time, for any reason. There is no penalty for not taking part or for quitting.
Contacts and Questions:
 Kristin Gordon is the researcher for this study. For questions about this research, you may call her at (206) 304-2906.
• If you think you may have suffered research related harm, call Kristin Gordon at (206) 304-2906 who will give you further directions.
• If you have any questions about your rights in this research study, you may contact: Director, Office for Research Protections, Boston College at (617) 552-4778, or irb@bc.edu.
Copy of Consent Form:
• You will be given a copy of this form to keep for your records.
Statement of Consent:
• I have read (or have had read to me) this consent form. I have been encouraged to ask

questions. I have received answers to my questions. I give my consent to be in this study. I have received (or will receive) a copy of this form.

Signatures/Dates	
Study Participant (Print Name):	Date
Participant Signature:	Date

Boston College [School of Arts and Sciences]

Informed Consent to be in study [Understanding Compassion-Based Addiction Therapy from a Participant's Perspective]

Researcher [Kristin Gordon]

Type of consent [Adult Consent Form - Counselor]

Introduction

- You are asked to be in a research study. The study will look at how people react to and interpret therapy.
- You were selected to be in the study because you have been a counselor involved in compassion-based treatment.
- Please read this form. Ask any questions that you may have before you agree to be in the study.

Purpose of Study:

- The purpose of this research is to study how people respond to compassion-based addiction therapy.
- The total number of people in this study is expected to be twelve.

What will happen in the study:

• If you agree to be in the study, you will answer questions and your answers will be recorded. The interview will last for about one hour.

Risks and Discomforts of Being in the Study:

- During this study, you will be asked to remember your life before, during, and after treatment. These may be sensitive topics.
- No identifying information will be collected about you.

Benefits of Being in the Study:

• There are no direct benefits offered to people who participate in the study. However, there may be indirect or unintended benefits during and following the study.

Costs:

• There is no cost to you to be in this research study.

Confidentiality:

- The records from this study will be kept private. In any report that I publish, I will not include any information that will identify you. Research records will be kept in a locked file.
- All electronic material will be stored in a password-protected file. Audio recordings will
 only be available to the researcher and will be erased when the interview has been copied
 to an electronic written format.

Subject's	Initials	

• The researcher will have access to information. A few other people may also have access. These may include government agencies, the Institutional Review Board at Boston College and internal Boston College auditors.

Choosing to be in the study and choosing to quit the study:

- It is your choice to be in this study. If you choose not to be in this study, it will not affect your current or future relationship with the University.
- You are able to stop at any time, for any reason.
- There is no penalty for not taking part or for quitting.

Contacts and Questions:

- Kristin Gordon is the researcher for this study. For questions about this research, you may call her at (206) 304-2906.
- If you think you may have suffered research related harm, call Kristin Gordon at (206) 304-2906 who will give you further directions.
- If you have any questions about your rights in this research study, you may contact: Director, Office for Research Protections, Boston College at (617) 552-4778, or irb@bc.edu.

Copy of Consent Form:

• You will be given a copy of this form to keep for your records.

Statement of Consent:

• I have read (or have had read to me) this consent form. I have been encouraged to ask questions. I have received answers to my questions. I give my consent to be in this study. I have received (or will receive) a copy of this form.

Signatures/Dates	
Study Participant (Print Name):	Date
Participant Signature:	Date

Subject's Initials

Appendix C: Codebook

- Medicalization: Comments about medical definitions of alcohol dependency as an illness as opposed to a lifestyle choice.
- Honesty: Perspectives on the necessity and challenges of being honest in the program.
- Talking: Comments on the necessity and challenges of vocalizing one's experiences while in meetings.
- Support of other women in group: Remarks about the other girls going through the program with them and how their presence impacted the participant's experience.
- Counselor/Participant Interaction: Statements regarding the relationships between counselors and participants.
- Spirituality/God/Higher power: Comments made about spirituality, God, a higher power or related concepts.
- Acceptance of self and alcohol dependency: Statements regarding the separation of oneself and one's behaviors as well as acceptance of one's dependency.
- Relapse: Remarks made about relapse.
- Family relationship: Observations about a participant's relationships with her family.
- Self-love/compassion: Statements pertaining to components of self-love or self-compassion. This will specifically focus on loving oneself (even with imperfections), seeing one's goodness, and avoiding self-criticism.
- Self-concept: Interpretations of one's self-concept at any point before, during, or after the program.
- Self-confidence: Remarks about a participant's self-confidence at any point before, during, or after the program.
- Attentiveness/"Living in the Now"/Mindfulness: Comments about remaining attentive to the present moment at any point before, during, or after the program. This will include focusing on the present by giving it proper attention and remaining positive about the future.
- Success: Statements made about goals for the program as well as perceived indications of maintaining sobriety.
- Labeling/Delabeling: Comments related to labeling oneself or others as "alcoholics" as well as any statements about the removal or acceptance of these labels.
- Self-efficacy: Statements pertaining to a belief, or lack of belief, that a participant has of remaining sober following treatment.